
MEETING: CABINET

DATE: Thursday 2nd December, 2021

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: Council Chamber, Southport

DECISION MAKER: CABINET

Councillor Ian Maher (Chair)
Councillor Atkinson
Councillor Cummins
Councillor Doyle
Councillor Fairclough
Councillor Hardy
Councillor Lappin
Councillor Roscoe
Councillor Moncur
Councillor Veidman

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Harrison
Democratic Services Manager

Telephone: 0151 934 2042
E-mail: ruth.harrison@sefton.gov.uk

The Cabinet is responsible for making what are known as Key Decisions, 
which will be notified on the Forward Plan.  Items marked with an * on the 
agenda involve Key Decisions
A key decision, as defined in the Council’s Constitution, is: -
● any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross 
budget expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more 
than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the greater

● any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact 
on a significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance.
If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time.  We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s)  to which their interests relate.

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to 

ruth.harrison@sefton.gov.uk  by no later than 12:00 (noon) the day 
before the day of the meeting.
 

Please include in your email –

 Your name;

 Your email address;

 Your Contact telephone number; and

 The details of the report in which you are interested.

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited.

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 
the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 
meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 
classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 
both your nose and mouth.



A G E N D A
Items marked with an * involve key decisions

Item 
No.

Subject/Author(s) Wards Affected

 
 1 Apologies for Absence

 2 Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or personal 
interest arises, which is not already included in 
their Register of Members' Interests, to declare 
any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, he/she must withdraw from 
the meeting room, including from the public 
gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to 
remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest 
he/she must seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or staff member representing the 
Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting 
room, including from the public gallery, during 
the whole consideration of any item of business 
in which he/she has an interest or whether the 
Member can remain in the meeting or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

 3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 
12)

Minutes of the meeting held on 4 November 
2021

* 4 Commissioning Domiciliary Care 
(Domiciliary Care Tenders)

All Wards (Pages 13 - 
20)

Report of the Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Health.



* 5 Domiciliary Care Contract Novations Ainsdale; Birkdale; 
Cambridge; 
Dukes; Kew; 

Meols; Norwood

(Pages 21 - 
24)

Report of the Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care and Health.

* 6 Substance Misuse Residential Rehabilitation 
Programme (Dynamic Purchasing System)

All Wards (Pages 25 - 
30)

Report of the Director of Public Health

* 7 High Needs Funding Allocations All Wards (Pages 31 - 
48)

Report of the Executive Director of Children’s 
Social Care and Education.

* 8 Selective and Additional (HMO) Licensing 
Schemes - Introduction of the Business 
Case

Blundellsands; 
Cambridge; 

Church; Derby; 
Dukes; Kew; 

Linacre; 
Litherland; Victoria

(Pages 49 - 
60)

Report of the Head of Economic Growth and 
Housing.

 9 Programme of Meetings – 2022/23 Municipal 
Year

All Wards (Pages 61 - 
84)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer.

* 10 Re-tender of the Councils Managed Print 
Service

All Wards (Pages 85 - 
92)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services.

* 11 Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 
and Framework for Change 2020 - Revenue 
and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 
including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 
on the 2021/22 Budget - December Update

All Wards (Pages 93 - 
114)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services.



THE “CALL IN” PERIOD FOR THIS SET OF MINUTES ENDS AT 12 NOON ON 
TUESDAY 16 NOVEMBER, 2021.

65

CABINET

MEETING HELD AT THE BALLROOM, TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON THURSDAY 4TH NOVEMBER, 2021

PRESENT: Councillor Ian Maher (in the Chair)
Councillors Atkinson, Cummins, Doyle, Hardy, 
Lappin, Roscoe, Moncur and Veidman

60. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Fairclough.

61. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

62. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Decision Made:

That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 October 2021 be approved as 
correct record.

63. ST TERESA’S CATHOLIC INFANT SCHOOL 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Education Excellence in 
relation to St. Teresa’s Catholic Infant School and the request from the 
Governing Body to begin formal consultation to close St Teresa’s Catholic 
Infant School.

The report set out that the Cabinet, at its meeting held on 5 March 2020 
agreed to give further time to St Teresa’s Governors to provide an 
alternative financial proposal based on a half form entry from Reception to 
Year 2. The proposal was presented to Cabinet on 30 July 2020 by the 
Governing Body who appealed to Cabinet to agree that the school remain 
open and to operate under a Licensed Deficit Budget Agreement. 

The Cabinet agreed to allow the Governing Body more time to provide a 
financial plan that provided assurance that the school was viable going 
forward.

The Local Authority has held termly monitoring meetings to review the 
financial plan submitted to Members with the Governors and Leadership 
Team of the school. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 4TH NOVEMBER, 2021

66

The Governing Body, after having exhausted all options to address the 
pupil numbers and financial situation, requested that the Council consider 
beginning formal consultation to close St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School.

Decision Made:

That the formal consultation process in relation to the closure of St. 
Teresa’s Catholic Infant School within the timescales identified in 
paragraph 4, to the report be initiated and approved.

Reasons for the Decision:

The Local Authority has the power to consider all options and to agree to 
the request made by the Governing Body.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Alternative options have been explored by the Governing Body with 
support from Officers prior to the Governing Body making their request.

64. ADOPTION IN MERSEYSIDE (AIM) EXTENSION OF CONTRACT 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Children’s 
Social Care and Education seeking approval to the extension of the 
partnership agreement for AIM (Adoption in Merseyside) until 31 March 
2022 and to note that the partnership arrangements will be subject to a full 
review before any new arrangements are put in place.

Decision Made: That the Cabinet:

(1) approve the extension of the current partnership agreement for AIM 
(Adoption in Merseyside) to the 31 March 2022; and

(2) note that the partnership arrangements going forward would be the 
subject of a review and that a further report would be submitted to a 
future meeting of the Cabinet.

Reasons for the Decision:

The current partnership agreement expired on 31 March 2021 and 
arrangements to extend the agreement were not implemented due to the 
impact of Covid-19. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 4TH NOVEMBER, 2021

67

65. BOOTLE STRAND SHOPPING CENTRE – BUSINESS PLAN 
2021/22 TO 2023/24 – INTERIM UPDATE 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director for Place that 
provided an interim update in relation to the Bootle Strand Shopping 
Centre.

The report detailed that currently there wasn’t any change to the Business 
Plan that was approved by Cabinet on 24 June 2021, Minute No 21 refers.  
The report outlined that the forecast relied on assumptions about the 
levels of collection of rent, rates and service charge, which were based on 
the current market conditions.  The report did set out that those could 
change if the very dynamic trading environment changes again, because 
of further government restrictions around COVID-19 for example.

Decision Made:

That the Cabinet note the contents of the report and the Business Plan, 
including the factors that could influence and impact upon the financial 
returns to the Council from The Strand, and the ongoing work on strategy 
and action plans proposed to manage and mitigate those.

Reasons for the Decisions:

The Council’s objectives for the acquisition of The Strand in 2017 were to 
ensure that it was supported to continue its role in the local community, as 
a key asset at the heart of Bootle critical to the town’s physical, economic 
and social regeneration. 

Since the start of the spread of COVID-19 in the UK in March 2020, the 
regular weekly and monthly monitoring of the operations of The Strand 
have indicated increasingly severe impacts of the pandemic and 
associated government restrictions on the operations of and financial 
returns from The Strand. Despite continued uncertainty, this report and 
Business Plan provide an update on forecasts for the coming years, as 
well as short- to medium-term mitigants and actions. 

However, operational decision-making must be made within the context of 
an approved Business Plan.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Not to provide any update – despite the fact that there is no change at this 
time to the previously published Business Plan, it was deemed appropriate 
to confirm that this was the case given continued uncertainty on the 
economic and regulatory impacts of the pandemic, and governmental and 
sectoral response, and continued impacts on The Strand. The expectation 
remains for continuation of uncertainty for the economy and for the sector 
for a significant period to come.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 4TH NOVEMBER, 2021

68

66. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2021/22 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services in relation to the Treasury 
Management activities undertaken to 30 September 2021.  The report set 
out that it was the second of the ongoing quarterly monitoring reports 
provided to the Audit and Governance Committee and the mid-year report 
to the Cabinet and Council, in order that the treasury management policies 
and practices maybe scrutinised.

Decision Made:

That the Treasury Management update to 30 September 2021 be noted 
along with the effects of decisions taken in pursuit of the Treasury 
Management Strategy and the implications of changes resulting from 
regulatory, economic and market factors affecting the Council’s treasury 
management activities.

Reasons for the Decision:

To ensure that Members are fully appraised of the treasury activity 
undertaken to 30 September 2021 and to meet the reporting requirements 
set out in Sefton’s Treasury Management Practices and those 
recommended by the CIPFA code.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:

None. 
 
67. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 2021/22 TO 2024/25 AND 

FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE 2020 - REVENUE AND CAPITAL 
BUDGET UPDATE 2021/22 INCLUDING THE FINANCIAL 
IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE 2021/22 BUDGET - NOVEMBER 
UPDATE 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services informing the Cabinet of:

1. The current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 
Budget;

2. The current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget;
3. The current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates collection 

for 2021/22;
4. The monitoring position of the Council’s capital programme to the 

end of September 2021:
 The forecast expenditure to year end;
 Variations against the approved budgets and an explanation of 

those variations for consideration by Members; and

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 4TH NOVEMBER, 2021

69

 Updates to spending profiles and proposed amendments to capital 
budgets necessary to ensure the efficient delivery of capital projects 
are also presented for approval.

Decisions Made: That

Revenue Budget

(1) the current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 
Budget together with the key issues that will influence the final 
position, be noted;

(2) the use of 2020/21 emergency funding to fund Collection Fund 
losses in 2021/22 instead of utilising the Council’s General 
Balances (£1.000m from the 2020/21 underspend) and 
implementing a vacancy target across the Council that would 
require posts to be held vacant (£0.500m), be approved;

(3) the current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget be 
noted;

(4) the financial risks associated with the delivery of the 2021/22 
revenue budget be recognised and it be acknowledged that the 
forecast outturn position will continue to be reviewed to ensure a 
balanced forecast outturn position and financial sustainability can 
be achieved;

Capital Programme

(5) the spending profiles across financial years for the approved capital 
programme, as outlined within paragraph 7.1of the report, be noted;

(6) the latest capital expenditure position as at 30 September 2021 of 
£13.613m (paragraph 7.4); and that the latest full year forecast is 
£50.568m (paragraph 7.6), be noted;

(7) the programme outputs and progress to September (paragraph 
7.5), be noted; and

(8) it be noted that capital resources will be managed by the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services, to ensure 
the capital programme remains fully funded and that capital funding 
arrangements secure the maximum financial benefit to the Council, 
as outlined within paragraph 7.11 of the report.

Reasons for the Decisions:

To ensure Cabinet are informed of the current position in relation to the 
2021/22 revenue budget, including COVID19 pressures and additional 
funding being made available to the Council.   

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 4TH NOVEMBER, 2021

70

To provide an updated forecast of the outturn position with regard to the 
collection of Council Tax and Business Rates.  

To keep members informed of the progress of the Capital Programme 
against the profiled budget for 2021/22 and agreed allocations for future 
years. 

To progress any changes that are required in order to maintain a relevant 
and accurate budget profile necessary for effective monitoring of the 
Capital Programme.

To approve any updates to funding resources so that they can be applied 
to capital schemes in the delivery of the Council’s overall capital strategy.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:

None.

68. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 2021/22 TO 2024/25 AND 
FRAMEWORK FOR CHANGE 2020 - MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
PLAN 2022/23 TO 2024/25 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services that detailed:

1. The latest position with regard to Government’s Comprehensive 
Spending Review and the potential impact that this could have on 
the Council’s funding for 2022/23 to 2024/25.

2. The update to the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 2022/23 
to 2024/25 taking account of all currently available information.

3. The position in respect of the Council’s High Needs Budget and the 
need to establish a remedial action plan in respect of the deficit 
within the High Needs Block, which will be shared with the external 
auditor in order to support financial sustainability.

The Cabinet Member for Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services, 
Councillor Lappin thanked all Officers for their continued support and hard 
work during the Year.  

Decision Made:

That the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2022/23 to 2024/25 and any 
assumptions made, be noted.

Reasons for the Decision:

In March 2021 Council approved a one-year budget plan for 2021/22. As 
part of this report, an indicative budget gap of £27m for 2022/23 to 
2024/25 was reported.  The MTFP for this period has subsequently been 
updated to reflect the latest information available and to reflect the ongoing 
service pressures the Council is facing.  In approving the recommendation 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 4TH NOVEMBER, 2021

71

laid out in this report, the Council will continue to ensure resources are 
well managed and reflect the key priorities of the residents of Sefton.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 2nd December 2021

Subject: Commissioning Domiciliary Care (Domiciliary Care Tenders)

Report of: Executive Director 
of Adult Social 
Care and Health

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member Adult Social Care
 

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To seek approval with regards to the immediate approach to commissioning Domiciliary 
Care Services in Sefton. The options in this paper describes the approach to procuring 
services effected by the Covid 19 Pandemic and workforce issues being experienced in 
the market. This would include authorising delegated authority relating to any actions 
required to safely manage urgent market risks in a timely way.

To seek approval to commence a full procurement exercise based upon the 
development of strategic plan around quality, sufficiency and workforce impact over the 
next 3 to 5 years. 

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to approve;

1) That the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health be delegated and 
authorised to undertake, as required based on an analysis of associated market 
risks, any required procurement exercises to safely manage the Domiciliary Care 
market and to mitigate any future risks of market failure. Once a Domiciliary Care 
Strategy is developed and further consideration of any new purchasing 
arrangements are better understood, details will be brought back to Cabinet for 
relevant decisions needed beyond this timeframe.  

2) That due to the need for urgent responses to manage the current market risks the 
Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health has delegated authority to 
make decisions with regards to contractual arrangements, service specifications, 
costs, the awarding of contracts and their durations, including any extension 
periods to the initial core contract period in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social Care and the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



3) That delegated authority is given to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services, to make 
decisions on the strategic approach to the commissioning of Domiciliary Care 
Services based on a new Sefton Domiciliary Care Market Strategy. The proposed 
Strategy will be recommended to Cabinet for approval in due course. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To ensure that commissioning arrangements for the provision of Domiciliary Care within 
Sefton are in place to meet the assessed need of Sefton’s residents. 

To ensure that both the immediate and longer-term strategic approaches to market 
sufficiency, safety and sustainability are in place in a timely manner and mitigate risks of 
market failure. 

To develop a cohesive and inclusive Commissioning and Market Management Strategy to 
ensure that the longer term needs and risks of the market are further understood and can 
be used to develop new commissioning arrangements which will support sustainability and 
market sufficiency aligned to the Adult Social Care Vision.  

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

The following options were considered and rejected;

 Maintaining the status quo – 

This is to continue and extend the current arrangements with Knowsley Council and    
continue with a purchasing system established in 2018 through a tender exercise led 
by Knowsley Council. This is not considered a viable option because of the emerging 
market risks connected to the social care workforce.

The option to develop local purchasing and commissioning arrangements will be 
explored to ensure that Sefton is assured of local sufficiency and stability. The 
approach will be developed as part of a 3 to 5-year Commissioning and Market 
Management Strategy for Domiciliary Care. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Revenue costs, with respect to the new contracts and any future further procurement 
exercises, will be met from existing Domiciliary Care budgets.  The total annual budget 
for Domiciliary Care is £15.8m per annum for 19,154 care hours per week across 38 
providers.

(B) Capital Costs
Page 14

Agenda Item 4



None.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no resource implications arising from this report at this stage.

Legal Implications:

Care Act 2014
Care and Support Statutory Guidance
Public Contract Regulations 2015

Equality Implications:

The equality implications have been identified and mitigated. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact 
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:

Domiciliary Care provides care and support to vulnerable people assessed as 
requiring such services, thus ensuring that the Council meets its statutory obligations.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Domiciliary Care services support the maintenance of independence, including 
ensuring that Service Users remain as part of their local communities.

Commission, broker and provide core services:

The adoption of the recommendations will ensure that statutory services will continue 
to be delivered to vulnerable Service Users.

Place – leadership and influencer:

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
(FD6610/21) and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4811/21) have been 
consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Consultation has taken place with the current Lead Providers in Areas 3, 4, and 5.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Cabinet meeting.
Contact Officer: Carol Cater
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3614
Email Address: carol.cater@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report.

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1. There are currently significant capacity issues within the Domiciliary Care Market in 
Sefton which mirrors the national position. Reports from organisations such as the 
UK Home Care Association and North West ADASS indicate that this is an issue 
not specific to Sefton and similar pressures are being seen both regionally and 
nationally. 

1.2. The annual budget for Domiciliary Care in Sefton is £15.8m to 1585 residents with 
an average care package of 12 hours of care weekly. The demand for care has 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



increased, as well as the frailty and complexity of those requiring care has increased 
with a greater demand for 2 carers at each visit.

1.3. The demand for Adult Social Care, including Domiciliary Care, is projected to 
increase significantly, partly due to the ageing population. For example, it is 
reported that 57 per cent more adults aged 65 and over in England will require care 
in 2038 compared to 2018.

1.4. Current capacity issues are due to several factors, including significant difficulties 
in recruiting and retaining staff, competition with the hospitality sector, the increase 
in demand for Domiciliary Care due to complexity of older people needing care and 
Provider costs. Such challenges are being experienced across a range of industries 
and the Covid 19 Pandemic is a contributing factor, with many people not wishing 
to access residential care, coupled with a drive to discharge people home from 
hospital more quickly.   

1.5. The Domiciliary Care market in Sefton has been exceptionally challenged as a 
result of the COVID Pandemic. Providers have had to adapt to new ways of working 
such as increased requirements for Infection Control and Personal Protective 
Equipment, testing for staff, and vaccinations. Staff have been exposed to 
extremely stressful working conditions with many staff having to work additional 
shifts to cover staff sickness and isolation, and the impact of trauma and fatigue on 
staff resilience and morale.   

1.6. Ongoing engagement work is taking place with the Provider market to both further 
understand and address current issues. In addition, Sefton (as with other Local 
Authorities) has a high number of people awaiting packages of care.

1.7. Subsequently, Sefton will need to ensure that it has both commissioning and 
internal decision making arrangements in place which support Adult Social Care to 
quickly adapt and implement new commissioning arrangements and to effect such 
commissioning arrangements in response to the mitigation of market risks.

1.8. The increased demand for Domiciliary Care also reflects wider strategic aims of 
Adult Social Care, enabling more people to live independently in their own homes 
so that people can live well and flourish within their communities. The Domiciliary 
Care market has been growing in response to this, however, the significant increase 
in demand and changes in the available workforce, recognised at a national level 
for the care sector, is also putting extreme pressure on providers in responding to 
this need. The staffing issues are also impacting on unpaid carers.  

1.9. There is a need to develop a Commissioning and Market Management Strategy to 
better understand these issues and engage with partners, stakeholders and 
providers to enable local strategies to be supported in achieving market sufficiency 
and sustainability within our local communities across the Borough. 

1.10. Work needs to be undertaken in assessing local factors such as provider costs, 
alignment to the real living wage to support recruitment and retention of staff, 
engaging in workforce strategies to encourage more entrance into working in the 
care sector, and rewarding staff appropriately through progression routes and 
enhanced working conditions. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



1.11. It is proposed that this work will commence immediately with some urgent changes 
are needed to manage risk specifically in Areas 3, 4, and 5 within the established 
Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System, PDPS, due to providers wishing to hand back 
contracts. This will enable commissioners to manage urgent needs in the market 
without delay and prepare the required tender documents with assessment of bids 
and evaluations to be undertaken immediately following Cabinet.

2. Commissioning Approach 

2.1. In order to ensure that future commissioning arrangements for Domiciliary Care 
services are sufficient, sustainable, and are of an excellent quality, a 
Commissioning and Market Management Strategy will be developed and will 
involve people with lived experience, carers, providers and other stakeholders. 
Consideration of 1 provider for all areas will be given in procurement design.

2.2. This strategy will describe an integrated approach to commissioning Domiciliary 
Care services with a focus on workforce and career development. Future 
consideration will be needed in relation to funding the social care workforce in 
Sefton. 

2.3. Alignment to regional and national forums to ensure Sefton is aware and engaged 
in agendas and initiatives to support the sector including workforce and retention of 
staff and provider costs will also be crucial in building a better understanding of the 
market and taking forward our ambitions to achieve the best outcomes for people 
aligned to the Adult Social Care vision. 

2.4. Work will begin about managing the immediate changes required to the market with 
further work developing the strategy being undertaken over the coming months. Any 
decisions with regards to the strategy and actions developed will be undertaken 
within appropriate governance arrangements. 

3. Immediate proposals and recommendations to mitigate availability of 
domiciliary care

2.1. Sefton’s market is currently ‘split’ into six contracted areas as part of a joint 
procurement arrangement, PDPS, in place with Knowsley as approved in 2018. In 
each area, there is a Lead Provider who is required to accept 90% of all referrals 
for care packages commissioned by the Council. There have been ongoing 
challenges to ensuring capacity in Areas 3, 4 and 5 and therefore there is a need 
to identify new capacity outside of the arrangements established in 2018 through 
securing new Lead Providers. This will now need to be addressed through a 
procurement exercise.

2.2. There are currently 1558 hours of Domiciliary Care waiting to picked up by Providers 
in all 6 Areas. 

2.3. It is proposed that the Council utilises the existing PDPS to conduct a procurement 
exercise in line with Council financial regulations to secure new Lead Provider/s 
which will be undertaken immediately following the decision with regards to this 
report.  

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



2.4. The current contract and service specification would be used to ensure there are 
consistent contractual and service delivery arrangements in place for the new 
contracts. An evaluation panel will be established and will involve stakeholders and 
groups representing people with lived experience.

2.5. The budget allocated for Areas 3, 4, and 5 by this procurement exercise totals 
£300,000, £900,000 and £900,000 respectively for a 2-year contracted period. 
There is a likelihood that the costs may increase due to a range of factors including 
fee rates increase and the need to consider incentivisation initiatives with providers  
and so further work will be needed to assess risks and the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services will be consulted with regards to 
mitigations where needed. 

2.6. Department of Health and Social Care have recently announced the allocation of a 
workforce grant for expenditure between October 2021 and March 2022 to support 
the sector. Sefton Council’s allocation is approximately £1 million and potential 
options to spend the allocation are being evaluated, including passporting directly 
to providers based on need and linked to the strategic priority of mobilising a 
Domiciliary Care workforce in historically challenging areas of the borough. 

4. Conclusion

4.1. The above recommendations have been submitted in order to ensure that 
Domiciliary Care services continue to be delivered in a safe and suitable way 
ensuring that actions can be taken in a timely way in response to known and 
emerging risks. 

4.2. Procurement exercises undertaken and new contractual arrangements will continue 
to have a strong focus on both supporting vulnerable Service Users in Sefton to live 
independently, supporting the Provider market to meet increased demand for 
services and ensuring that care staff delivering services are valued and supported.

4.3. The recommendations have also been made to outline proposals for a future  
Commissioning and Market Management Strategy which will ensure that future 
services are commissioned and delivered in acknowledgement of market pressures 
and risks however also with the aim to provide sustainable and sufficient resources 
to meet needs. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 2nd December 2021

Subject: Domiciliary Care Contract Novation

Report of: Executive Director 
of Adult Social Care 
and Health

Wards Affected: Norwood; Meols; 
Kew; Birkdale; 
Cambridge; Dukes; 
Ainsdale 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member Adult Social Care

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

Due to structural company changes aligned to the Castlerock Recruitment Group 
approval is sought to novate current contracts held in relation to Domiciliary care 
provision in Sefton. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) To approve the novation of current contracts with Castlerock Recruitment Group 
Ltd / Health Care Resourcing Group to CRG Homecare Ltd who are a subsidiary 
company within the Group with effect from the 23rd September 2021.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

This option is recommended as CRG Homecare Ltd are a subsidiary of Castlerock 
Recruitment Group Ltd / Health Care Resourcing Group and so this novation would ensure 
that delivery of current services would remain with no disruption.  

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Consideration of seeking either new provision for individual packages or undertaking a full 
procurement exercise was rejected on the basis of the impact on current service users and 
limited capacity in the market to secure alternative provision.

Services are provided through an agreed purchasing system whereby costs are set, and 
quality outlined within the specification and so there would be no advantage in undertaking 
a new procurement exercise. Services previously registered under Castlerock Recruitment 
Ltd were rated as good by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 

CRG Homecare Ltd are a subsidiary of Castlerock Recruitment Ltd and so the staff 
employed to provide the service would remain the same with no change and would offer 
the least disruptive approach for services users and stability of the provision. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no additional revenue costs associated with this report. The costs of the novated 
contracts can be contained within the existing Adult Social Care budget. 

(B) Capital Costs

There are no capital costs associated with this report.  

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no resource implications arising from this report at this stage.

Legal Implications:

Care Act 2014

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications arising from this report at this stage. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact 
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:

The novation would best ensure that vulnerable service users currently receiving care 
from Castlerock Recruitment Group Ltd / Health Care Resourcing Group continue to 
have their needs met. 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Approving the novation is most likely to ensure the current Service Users of Castlerock 
Recruitment Group Ltd / Health Care Resourcing Group have continuity of care and 
thus support Service Users to remain as independent as they are. Furthermore, this 

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



option avoids any potential break in care whilst another Provider is sourced. Such 
disruption could lead to a deterioration in health and undue stress. 

Commission, broker and provide core services:

The novation best ensures that the Council is providing core services to current 
Castlerock Recruitment Group Ltd / Health Care Resourcing Group Service Users. 

Place – leadership and influencer:

N/A

Drivers of change and reform:

N/A

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

N/A 

Greater income for social investment: 

N/A

Cleaner Greener

N/A 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
(FD6610/21) and the Chief Legal & Democratic Officer (LD4811/21) have been 
consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

As there will be no actual change to the service delivered to service users or to 
staff, no external consultations have taken place. 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Cabinet Member decision

Contact Officer: Pippa McHaffie
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3142 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



Email Address: Pippa.McHaffie@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices associated with this report. 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1. Castlerock Recruitment Group Ltd is a current Lead Provider operating in 
Southport. The Provider currently delivers care to approximately 60 people for a 
total of 780 weekly hours.  

1.2. As part of internal company restructures, in June 2018, Castlerock Recruitment 
Group Ltd changed their name to Health Care Resourcing Group Ltd. As a result 
of these changes and further restructures within the group implemented in June 
2021 Castlerock Recruitment Ltd transferred its domiciliary provision to its 
subsidiary company CRG Homecare Ltd and requested a novation of their 
contract. 

1.3. CRG Homecare Ltd has had 100% of its share capital purchased by Cera Care 
from Castlerock Recruitment Group Ltd / Health Care Resourcing Group Limited. 
The company number for CRG Homecare Ltd remains the same, as does their 
VAT position as a zero-rated VAT organisation. 

1.4. There are therefore no fundamental changes to the local management or 
arrangements for provision in Sefton with the Responsible Person and Registered 
Manager being the same individual however registered with The Care Quality 
Commission CQC) as CRG Homecare Ltd. Under the previous CQC registration 
services were rated as good. 

2. Conclusion & Recommendations

2.1. This paper recommends that a novation agreement be signed with Castlerock 
Recruitment Group Ltd / Health Care Resourcing Group to novate their current 
contracts with Sefton Council to CRG Homecare Ltd. This option will provide 
service users with continued care to meet their needs and ensure stability of the 
current provision. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 2 December 2021

Subject: Substance Misuse Residential Rehabilitation Programme 
(Dynamic Purchasing System)

Report of: Director of Public 
Health

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Health and Wellbeing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To report key findings of a review of current commissioning arrangements for Substance 
Misuse Residential Rehabilitation Programmes for the residents of Sefton and seek 
authorisation to commence a procurement process and continue to utilise a Dynamic 
Purchasing System for placements.

Residential Rehabilitation is part of the local integrated treatment and recovery offer for 
substance users. Substance use treatment services have been central to sustaining low 
rates of HIV, injecting related infections and other drug and alcohol related harm. There 
is a strong body of evidence confirming that investment in drug and alcohol treatment is 
cost effective. While the health and social harms caused by substance use 
disproportionately affect the most disadvantaged in society, research continues to show 
a positive association between effective engagement with substance use treatment and 
a reduction in harm, crime and criminal activities associated with illicit substance use. 

Consideration is now required on re-procuring Residential Rehabilitation Programmes as 
the current extension term expires on the 31st March 2022. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) Authorise the Director of Public Health to conduct an OJEU Light-Touch Regime 
tender exercise to establish a Dynamic Purchasing System for substance misuse 
Residential Rehabilitation to run for a period of three years from 1st April 2022 
with the option of two further one-year extensions with a ceiling price of £270,000 
per annum; and

(2) Delegate authority to the Director of Public Health in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member – Health and Wellbeing to award the contracts to the highest scoring 
bidders, within the context of the approved budget.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):      
Residential Rehabilitation is an integral part of any drug treatment and recovery

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



system and a vital option for some people requiring treatment for dependency to 
substances. A recent review of the service has demonstrated there is a need for 
Residential Rehabilitation placement’s, and this is ongoing. During 20/21 and the first 
6months of 21/22 the demand for placements has virtually doubled since 19/20.

Effective substance use treatment and recovery requires a range of referral pathways 
and services collaborating to optimise the effect of treatment interventions. Individual 
stability and progress in recovery is dependent on stability in the treatment system. In 
line with calls from National Advisory Councils, the recommendation provides scope for 
longer contract duration and a greater degree of stability and continuity.    

A Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS), as provided for within the 2015 Public Contracts 
Regulations, will enable Sefton Council to ensure that fair and transparent 
commissioning arrangements are in place while enabling an individually tailored 
programme appropriate to the individual’s needs and requirements. The key advantage 
of a DPS, is that the applicable legislation allows the Council to open the DPS to new 
applicants at points during its lifespan. This therefore gives the Council the flexibility to 
take advantage of beneficial changes within the marketplace which may take place over 
time.

         
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

To have no provision for Residential Rehabilitation.  For those who have undergone a 
programme of treatment and detoxification and have not responded to community 
rehabilitation, residential rehabilitation programmes provide the opportunity for sustained 
recovery in a safe and therapeutic residential setting. The necessity for Residential 
Rehabilitation is more likely for complex clients and increases the likelihood of successful 
treatment outcome.

To establish a Framework Agreement for commissioning Residential Rehabilitation 
Programmes. Whilst a Framework Agreement would comply with procurement rules, it 
does not give the degree of flexibility required to remain responsive to on-going change, 
as importantly, new providers to the market are prevented from joining a Framework 
Agreement at any point during its lifespan, usually 4 years.

To “Spot Purchase” as and when Residential Rehabilitation is required. Spot Purchasing 
requires considerable time to identify and negotiate suitable placements and provides for 
less transparency and ability to benchmark costs. Also, spot purchasing placement tariffs 
are often subject to higher costs.

A DPS would enable longer-term contracts to be entered into with a range of approved 
Residential Rehabilitation Providers providing more service stability and better value in 
the contract cost.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no additional costs. The current budget for Residential Rehabilitation 
Programmes is £270,000 per year. The DPS will ensure that the cost of any placement is 

Page 26

Agenda Item 6



agreed in advance and will help the Council to allocate and manage placements more 
effectively.  To control risk in terms of affordability of the future programmes, an 
indicative ceiling price of £270,000 across the whole programme will be set out in the 
tendering process and ceiling prices relating to levels of service provided as described in 
the service specification.  The cost of the programmes will be met from within the Public 
Health budget allocated for substance misuse. 

(B) Capital Costs

There are no additional capital costs.

Implications of the Proposals: 

A Dynamic Purchasing System will provide an open and equitable system for service 
providers. All service providers will be able to apply to be part of the Dynamic Purchasing 
System based on their ability to deliver services to a clear service specification and 
within an agreed duration and cost.

The Adult Social Care Substance Misuse Assessment Team will be able to better match 
individual needs and requirements to an appropriate and effective placement – 
increasing individual choice, improving prospects for on-going recovery and cost-
effective treatment outcomes.

Residential Rehabilitation provides those individuals who require it a greater chance of a 
successful treatment outcome and recovery.

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
All cost associated with this procurement will be met from the Public Health budget 
allocation for substance use.
Legal Implications:
None
Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:
The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for report authors N

The proposal to utilise a Dynamic Purchasing System for Residential Rehabilitation 
Placements will have a neutral impact on the climate emergency. It is a re-procurement 
of existing Public Health commissioned service which does not generate additional 
impacts on the climate emergency. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



Protect the most vulnerable:
Investment in drug service interventions to support Sefton residents effected by 
substance misuse.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
Investment in drug service interventions to support communities from the direct and 
indirect impacts of substance misuse.

Commission, broker and provide core services:
The Dynamic Purchasing System provides a mechanism for commissioning Residential 
Rehabilitation Placements for Sefton residents. 

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment: Not Applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6601/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4802/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not Applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Julie Tierney, Lisa Whittingham
Telephone Number: 07816115538
Email Address: julie.tierney@sefton.gov.uk, lisa.whittingham@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices: 

The following appendices are attached to this report: 
Background Papers:

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1     Residential Rehabilitation is an integral part of any drug treatment and recovery 
system and a vital option for some people requiring treatment for dependency to 
substances.

1.2 Dependent drug and alcohol users typically present to services with a range of 
complex physical, emotional, psychological, and psychiatric health problems. 
Effective treatment and recovery requires a range of services and interventions 
including specialist clinical services, medically assisted detoxification 
programmes, psychosocial interventions, mutual aid and residential rehabilitation 
programmes. 

1.3 Sefton’s Integrated Substance Misuse: Assessment, Treatment and Recovery 
Service provide a care pathway approach to treatment and recovery in which 
community rehabilitation is the first line offer where appropriate and clinically safe. 

1.4 For those who have undergone a programme of treatment and detoxification and 
have not responded to community rehabilitation, residential rehabilitation 
programmes provide the opportunity for sustained recovery in a safe and 
therapeutic residential setting. The presence of health and social care complexity 
including dual diagnosis (substance misuse and mental ill health), physical 
disability, home and personal circumstances and/or Alcohol Related Brain 
Damage (ARBD) are likely to increase the necessity for a residential rehabilitation 
placement and the likelihood of successful treatment outcome.

1.5 Eligibility for Residential Rehabilitation Programmes is determined by the Adult 
Social Care Substance Misuse Assessment Team who carry out full social care 
assessment of need compliant with Care Act requirements and equality to access 
legislation. Residential placements are matched to individual need based on 
assessment and clinical review from specialist substance misuse treatment 
providers. Once agreed placements will be funded, initially for a period of three 
months, from a fixed annual public health budget.

2.       Review and Service Developments

2.1 A recent review of substance misuse residential rehabilitation placements has 
demonstrated a good rate of completions: overall, the percentage of planned exits 
over this period was 78% (June 2019 and March 2021.) This compares with a 
national rate of planned discharges between 20% and 60%. 

2.2 In 19/20, there were 34 admissions, but this rose to 64 in 20/21 and this increase 
has been sustained with 33 placements in the first 6 months in 21/22. The number 
of admissions has increased in line with the impact of COVID-19 which may be 
the result of behaviour change and greater vulnerabilities during the pandemic.

2.3     Like many areas, Sefton has an ageing treatment population and experiences 
significantly high levels of drug and alcohol related harm. Sefton has higher than 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



average rates of drug related deaths, higher than average rates of hepatitis C and 
alcohol related mortalities and emergency hospital admissions for alcohol related 
liver disease above the national average.  

2.4 Evidence from the National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse; The Role of 
Residential Rehabilitation in an Integrated Treatment System (2012) suggests that 
the best performing rehabilitation programmes do well with complex service users 
who often do not benefit from community rehabilitation programmes. Moreover, 
Residential Rehabilitation Programmes are more successful at retaining residents 
with severe alcohol dependency and chronic alcohol related problems.

     
3.        Developing a Dynamic Purchasing System

3.1 Residential Rehabilitation providers will be invited to join the Dynamic Purchasing 
System where they can demonstrate to commissioners and social care their ability 
as a provider to deliver against a service specification with a fixed price for groups 
of similar case mix and complexity. This will cut down on any placement 
negotiation time and enable Public Health and the Adult Social Care Assessment 
Team to benchmark provision against other Local Authorities leading to greater 
efficiencies and savings. Sefton Council Procurement Team will ensure open and 
transparent communication to all interested providers via the Chest while the 
benefits of a Dynamic Purchasing System over a single commissioning framework 
means that the Dynamic Purchasing System can be opened to include additional 
providers and services as need and requirements change.

 

4.       Procurement Process

4.1 The Procurement Timetable is in place with provision for contract award in Feb 22  

4.2 The basis of the tender evaluation will be Most Economically Advantageous 
Tender (M.E.A.T.) taking into consideration a percentage balance between Cost 
and Quality 

4.3 To control risk in terms of affordability of the future service, an indicative ceiling 
price will be set in the tendering process, informed by the service review referred 
to within this report.

4.4 It is proposed that at the end of the procurement process, a three - year contract 
with the option to extend for up to a further two years will be entered into with 
provider(s).  This should maintain service stability and better value for money.

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



Report to: Cabinet

Council

Date of Meeting: 2 December 2021

20 January 2022

Subject: High Needs Funding Allocations

Report of: Executive Director 
of Children's Social 
Care and Education

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Education

Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The Sefton High Needs Block - Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funding closed with a 
financial deficit of £8.2m at the end of 2020/21 and it is currently estimated to overspend 
by more than £1.8m in the current financial year increasing the overall deficit to more 
than £10m at the end of 2021/22

The Government changed the financial rules regarding the treatment of any financial 
deficit on the HN (DSG) Block in 2020/21 making it no longer possible for the Council to 
offset any DSG deficit against Council Reserves and so reducing the financial risk to the 
Council’s current Medium Term Financial Plan. However, the continual increase in 
demand for High Needs support and the anticipated increase to the deficit on the HN 
Block over the next few years is still of serious concern as there is no clarity from the 
Government over how future / accumulated  DSG deficits will be resolved.

The current funding model within the council used to support High Needs placements 
has not been reviewed and placement costs have not been uplifted since 2013/14. The 
financial forecasts for the 5 in-house Special Schools indicate that they will all face 
significant financial hardship over the next three years unless the existing funding values 
are increased. This would lead to Special Schools having to make significant financial 
savings in spending commitments reducing the number of places they could provide for 
children with SEND which in turn would mean more reliance in expensive Out of Borough 
placements for children increasing the cost pressures facing the HN Block further.

Through the current High Needs review, a key feature was to develop a new funding 
model for HN placements that was transparent, right-sized Special School budgets and 
provided stability for in-house placements. This new funding model has been produced 
that addresses the key actions required within the review however the cost of 
implementing the new funding model would increase the projected HN Block deficit by up 
to £2m per annum. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Recommendation to Cabinet:

(1) That Cabinet be requested to note the report and refer to Council for approval.  

Recommendations to Council: That:

(1) Council note the current / projected High Needs Block DSG deficit position 

(2) Council approve the uplift in funding to Special Schools and other SEND Resource 
Bases in Sefton and the impact that this will have on the forecast deficit on the HN Block 
in the medium term.

(3) Council approve that a report be provided to February Cabinet by the Director of 
Children’s Social Care and Education on the future high needs funding allocation and the 
latest advice on funding methodology and the treatment of deficits held by Councils

(4) Council agree that subsequent quarterly reports be provided to cabinet and council as 
required on the latest position with regards to the high needs budget and the 
development of further provision within the Borough; and

(5) Council agree that following engagement with the relevant Government Departments 
that a financial plan be developed to mitigate against the risk exposure currently faced 
and that this be agreed with the Councils External Auditor.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):
Ensure the stability of existing / new in-house placements and support for SEND 
Children
Provide transparency over the level of funding allocated to SEND placements
Reduce requirements to use more expensive Out of Borough placements for SEND 
Children
Provide clarity on the financial position facing the council and the proposed approach 
that the council will take in order that members can make informed decisions and the 
financial sustainability of the council is maintained

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Retain the status quo and continue to fund placement costs to Special Schools and other 
SEND Resource Units at existing levels. However, unless funding levels are increased, 
all Sefton Special Schools will be required to make significant budget savings which will 
impact on the number of SEN children they can support and mean an increase in Out of 
Borough placements and higher placement costs.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
Page 32

Agenda Item 7



The forecast deficit on the DSG High Needs Block is identified in Section 5 paragraph 
5.7 of the report. If Council agree to implement new High Needs funding model for 
Special Schools and SEN Resource units in 2022/23 this will increase the in-year deficit 
by approximately £2m p.a. This additional cost could potentially be phased in and 
managed by using some of the Special Schools projected surplus balances with 
agreement from the Schools Governing Bodies.

The Department for Education has provide clarification regarding the treatment of the 
ring-fenced status of the DSG",  The regulations have been changed to ensure councils 
do not use general funds to pay off cumulative dedicated schools grant (DSG) 
overspends to prevent any impact in investment in other Council services. However, the 
DfE has not stated how the growing HN debt nationally is to be addressed and so this 
still presents a risk to Councils and will be closely monitored and reported through 
appropriate channels

(B) Capital Costs

These are not known at this time however, any adaptations or increases in SEND 
provision will be funded from SEND capital Grant funding

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
  All implications are detailed in the report
Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications
Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: allows a Sefton wide focus on educational support of 
children with SEND.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Proposals allow greater localised control 
and focus on the SEND requirements of the borough of Sefton in the review and 
delivery of SEND Specialist Education Placements and Support Services.

Commission, broker and provide core services: Proposals strength the role of Strategic 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



SEN Commissioning at a Sefton borough level and encourages greater collaboration 
with in-house SEND Settings for better outcomes for children.

Place – leadership and influencer: proposals set out the road map for greater local 
control of SEN demand / provision by the Council.

Drivers of change and reform: Proposals allow for a Sefton wide focus on educational 
inequalities in provision for children with SEND 
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity. Proposals allow for a broader financial focus 
on the borough of Sefton for education SEN support

Greater income for social investment: Proposals allow for a broader financial focus on 
the borough of Sefton for education SEN support

Cleaner Greener; creation of more in-house SEN provision should reduce SEN 
children’s transport journeys.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6571/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4773/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Meetings with schools’ emails, video conference calls (various interested parties / 
Government Officers / Regional LA Officers), letters

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Tricia Davies 
Telephone Number:
Email Address: Tricia.davies@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 In 2014 the Children and Families Act introduced a new approach to meeting 
the needs of children and young people with Special Educational Needs, 
including Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plans replacing Statements of 
Special Educational Need. The age range that these legal documents covered 
was extended from a maximum of 19 up to potentially 25 if a young person 
was still making progress in education.

1.2 The new system increased the prominence of parental preference when 
looking at school placements for children with EHC Plans with limited 
exceptions where a Local Authority can refuse to name the parental 
preference.

1.3 At the same time as this occurring, school budgets have not received the 
increases in budgets year on year that have been required to maintain the 
level of provision they were previously able to put in place, reducing their 
overall ability and confidence in meeting SEN. This has had a resulting impact 
on parental confidence in mainstream schools being able to meet their 
children’s needs. Where mainstream schools have attempted to support 
children, they have increasingly done so using 1:1 Teaching Assistants 
supporting the child full time in their class. This is an expensive approach to 
meeting needs both for schools and the Local Authority, and national studies 
have indicated that the use of 1:1 Teaching Assistants does not always 
achieve the best outcomes for children in all situations.

1.4 This position has been reflected nationally and locally in a growth in requests 
for EHC Assessments to determine whether an EHC Plan is required for a 
child, and an increase in requests for specialist provision for children who have 
an EHC Plan. When Local Authorities attempt to use exceptions to name a 
placement other than parental preference parents have the right of appeal to 
the SEN Tribunal. Current figures for the SEN Tribunal indicate that 95% of 
Tribunal decisions are made in favour of the parental appeal.

1.5 With this background and context in mind, Sefton has seen a year on year 
increase in the number of pupils with EHC Plans, the numbers in specialist 
provision and the numbers being placed in expensive independent provision, 
either due to lack of capacity of places in Sefton maintained schools or due to 
parental preference. These increases in demand have had a significant impact 
on the High Needs Budgets for Sefton, reflecting the same picture nationally.

1.6 Sefton’s High Needs Block overspent last year (2020/21) by £2.815m taking 
the Deficit Balance brought forward on High Needs to a level of £8.249m. This 
was due mainly to growing expenditure against SEN Support top up awards to 
mainstream schools across Pre and Post 16and the cost of sending Children 
and Young People with SEND to expensive out of Borough Specialist School 
placements. These areas are, and continue to be, the focus of the High Needs 
review.

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



1.7 To reduce costs restrictions were put in place on Top Up funding awards 
during 2020/21, and again in this current year, so that only the pupils in 
transition years were to be funded afresh, or reviewed, and existing funding 
payments for the other year groups were just to be rolled forwards at the same 
levels for a period of time, initially - to July 2021; and again from July now to 
December 2021 to allow time for any new mainstream Banded funding 
structure to evolve, and be rolled out. This direction precluded any new 
requests for additional Top Up funding, unless by reason of a pupil moving 
towards or having an assessment for an EHC Plan. This has kept costs down 
over the last 12 months and made the funding process less onerous for 
schools and the SEND team.

1.8 Through the Sefton Schools Forum, Officers also requested for Schools to 
offer some contribution from their funding Block towards High Needs budget 
pressures for the last three years (including 2021/22) to help suppress the 
level of overspending in each year.

1.9 Early Years similarly made contributions to High Needs from their funding 
Block up until 2020/21, when the management of the SEN Inclusion fund 
transferred to Early Years from High Needs in 2021/22 and is being funded 
from Early Years funding.

1.10 Over the last 3 years there has been a general underspending against the 
SEN Support Teams charged against High Needs. This has, annually, 
contributed up to £0.500m saving due to post vacancies. Essential changes to 
Complex and Sensory Needs and Inclusion services are underway this year as 
part of the Education Excellence restructure. Although these will be cost 
neutral it will inevitably reduce any saving available to contribute to HN cost 
pressures as new posts are filled. 

1.11 The Year on Year funding for High Needs from 2020/21 to 2021/22 saw the 
second-year increase of the Governments 3-year funding programme of a net 
£3.936m. However, this increase included the former Teachers Pay and 
Pensions Grant for Special schools and Alternative Provision settings of 
£0.649m, which is ring-fenced to schools, leaving funding growth of just 
£3.287m for High Needs spending. In 2021/22 the Schools Forum agreed to a 
smaller supplementary contribution to High Needs, of £0.430m from the 
Schools Block (£0.824m in 2020/21) and with the retention of Early Years 
funding in 2021/22 of £0.200m to manage the SEN Inclusion Fund, the net 
year on year funding increase to High Needs was £3.342m.

1.12 There was no contribution from Early Years Block in 2021/22, due to the 
creation of a SEN Inclusion Fund within the Early Years Block which 
transferred SEND demand for Early Years settings over from High Needs 
Block to Early Years Block. 

1.13 High Needs spending is reported to Schools Forum regularly, and the key 
pressure areas are highlighted to Forum Members, in particular, around Top 
up mainstream costs and Special Schools funding and of course Independent 
out of Borough special schools, where numbers and costs have increased 
significantly, largely due, in part, to a lack of in-house provision, and also 
increased parental demand through judicial process.

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



2 Forecast outturn position for High Needs 2021/22

2.1 Despite the additional Government funding to support HN pressures in 2021/22, it 
remains significantly below the level of forecast spending. The forecast for 
2021/22 includes additional in-house places that have been created and agreed 
across Resourced Provision and Special Schools from this September to meet 
new demand, but this has saved on more costly Out of Borough placements 
across external provision

2.2 Sefton is forecasting an overspend of between £1.8m (current forecast) and 
£2.3m this year. This level of overspending may be less than 2020/21 (£2.8m) and 
is a move in the right direction, but funding is still not enough to keep up with 
demand- led spending especially as the current overspend only includes the 
partial costs of new placements from September. 

2.3 The table below shows the current spend pressures against the High Needs Block 
by key service area for 2021/22 (August 2021).

High Needs Expenditure 
areas

Forecast 2021/22 + 
Deficit/ (-) 
Underspend

Primary Mainstream School 
Top Ups

 0.190m

Primary Resourced Unit Top 
Ups

 0.073m

Secondary Mainstream 
School Top Ups

 0.303m

Residential Placements – 
Independent settings

0.322m

Special provision - Non-
Maintained Special Day 
Schools Out of 
Borough

 0.865m

Maintained Special School 
Places and Top Ups

 0.392m

Post 16 (19-24) Top Up costs  0.239m
Outreach -0.108m
High Needs SEN Support 

Teams
-0.580m

Mid-Year change to HN 
Funding for increases 
to IMPORT/EXPORT 
numbers 

 0.186m

Other net variations  -0.092m

Total Forecast 
Overspending 
2020/21

1.790m

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



Brought forward HN DSG 
Deficit

8.249m

Forecast C/FWD HN Deficit 
to 2022/23

10.039m

3 Indicative High Needs 2022/23

3.1 2022/23 is the final year (year 3) of the Government’s promised funding 
increase, and some indicative figures have been provided to Local 
Authorities in July 2021. These are subject to deductions made for Non-
Maintained school funding by the Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA), 
and after assuming a similar adjustment would be made as for 2021/22, the 
comparable year on year figures show an increase in funding of £3.280m. 
However, no contribution from Schools Block will be expected in 2022/23 
and so this increase would be netted down by the loss of this funding 
stream by £0.430m to a net increase of £2.85m.

3.2 The total High Needs funding for Sefton in 2022/23 is expected to be 
around £38.506m after adjustments for a top slice of funding by the ESFA 
towards places at Independent schools and colleges and non-Maintained 
schools. This figure is inclusive of Teachers Pay and Employers pension 
costs from previous years relating to Maintained Special Schools and 
Alternative Provision settings, which were first embedded into the High 
Needs baseline in the current year 2020/21 at the same value of £0.649m. 
This funding is ring-fenced to Special schools and AP, leaving a balance of 
£37.857m to support all High Needs commitments in 2022/23.

3.3 Future funding increases for High Needs beyond 2022/23 are still not 
known. The Government is currently conducting a national High Needs 
review, which will look at spending and whether the funding mechanism 
needs to change to reflect current need, rather than contain historic factors. 
It was hoped that the outcome of the review would be released earlier this 
year but to date nothing has been published. The High Needs Block 
funding levels for 2022/23 will be confirmed in late December 2021 when 
the Department for Education release the Dedicated Schools Grant 
allocations to Local Authorities for 2022/23. 

4 Change in Treatment of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Deficits 

4.1 Following the consultation on “Clarifying the Specific Grant and Ringfenced 
Status of the Dedicated Schools Grant” in January 2020, the DfE made a 
significant change to the School Finance Regulations and DSG conditions 
of grant, relating to the way that DSG deficits are to be treated from 
2020/21.

4.2 Prior to this change, if there was a DSG deficit at the end of the financial 
year, Schools Forums have had to approve the carrying forward of such a 
deficit to future years schools’ budgets. If such approval was not 
forthcoming, the default position was that the deficit fell to the local 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



authority’s general fund, unless specific authorisation from the Secretary of 
State for Education was granted.

4.3 DSG deficits have become much more significant over the last few years 
because of pressures on the high needs block. In the DfE’s consultation 
they noted that “at the end of 2018/19, about half of all authorities 
experienced an overspend, amounting to £250m in all”. ‘Half of all 
authorities’ amounts to around 75, implying an average deficit in these 
authorities of over £3m. “The national net position was an overspend of 
£40m and authorities were forecasting that there would be a net overspend 
of £230m at the end of 2019-20.”  Likewise in its recent submission to the 
Comprehensive Spending Review the Local Government Association 
stated that ‘•We are pleased that the DfE has recognised the challenges 
that councils are facing in delivering SEND support, with the allocation of 
an additional £780 million for high needs budgets in 2022/23, but it is vital 
that the Spending Review provides councils with long-term sufficiency of, 
and certainty over, funding to support children with SEND, including a 
commitment to write off councils’ existing High Needs Block deficits which 
we estimate to be worth around £600 million’

4.4 Given the legislative position described in 4.2 above, not surprisingly, this 
led some local authority Chief Finance Officers to conclude that if their 
DSG account was in deficit, they would need to be able to cover the deficit 
from the authority’s general reserves. It is understood that a similar view 
was held by organisations that audit local authority accounts. Given the 
size of some authorities’ DSG deficits there was a risk that covering DSG 
deficits from general funds may have led authorities to make significant 
spending reductions in other services that they would not otherwise have 
made.

4.5 In the above context, the DfE changed the legislative position such that “a 
DSG deficit must be carried forward to be dealt with from future DSG 
income, unless the Secretary of State authorises the Local Authority not to 
do this”. The DfE was clear that the new arrangements would begin to 
operate from budget setting for the financial year 2020/21 and so would 
therefore affect any deficits held at the end of 2019/20.

4.6 In effect, then, the DfE have reversed the longstanding position formerly in 
place. This reflects the unprecedented pressure on DSG, created by a 
combination of the DfE’s legislation in recent years in relation to high 
needs, the DfE’s ring-fencing of DSG blocks and demographic pressures 
impacting upon high needs.

4.7 If councils are unable to pay off their cumulative DSG deficits “within a 
reasonable time” they must agree a recovery plan which could have 
conditions attached including "management change" or requiring SEND 
budget sign-off from DfE.

4.8 The new approach is causing unease within several councils. LGC has 
learned the government's new approach has led to some representative 
organisations considering taking legal advice on the issue. The Society of 
County Treasurers said that, as the new arrangements do not clarify how 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



cumulative DSG overspends will be paid off, it leaves councils waiting for 
an “unspecified development” such as extra funding to pay off the debt. In a 
statement, it added: “Section 151 officers across the country are going to 
have to make individual judgements about how they respond and it will 
then be interesting to see how external auditors interpret such practice as 
to most it may look like wishful thinking or, at best, a case of imprudent 
financial practice.” 

4.9 Several external auditor companies have also expressed concern that 
councils with significant DSG overspends and relatively low usable 
reserves will be uncomfortable with the government's approach. “There is 
no statutory undertaking to underwrite this deficit. In that scenario, both 151 
officers and auditors would be concerned about the council’s financial 
position overall. It would be more helpful if the department stated that, if the 
[DSG] goes to deficit, then the Government is going to underwrite it. The 
new approach of removing School Forums' ability to veto deficits being 
carried over to future years effectively makes the DfE "arbiters” of 
arrangements of how cumulative deficits are going to be paid off, with 
councils having no control over school spending

4.10 However continual increase in demand / pressure on SEND services 
nationally means that more and more Local Authorities are now reporting 
significant deficits against their DSG HN Block funding and so is a financial 
risk to the Government that needs to be addressed.

4.11 The DfE has set up the ‘Safety Valve Project’ which has been working in 
collaboration with several Local Authorities, who have been reporting 
significant deficits balances against their DSG funding. Councils who have 
signed up to the “safety Valve Project” have access to additional 
Government  funding to support and to underwrite accumulated deficits 
against DSG funding and also help with the implementation of action plans 
to address HN Block spending deficits going forward.

4.12 Sefton formally wrote to the DfE to request being included in the ‘Safety 
Valve’ project for help with the current High Needs deficit. Officers met with 
representatives from the ESFA to seek support from the Government in 
underwriting the accumulated deficit within the High Needs Block. 
However, in the meeting the ESFA stated that Sefton could not be included 
in the ‘safety valve’ project as our deficit is not significant enough to be part 
of the project.

4.13 The ESFA stated that Sefton is only to be included in the ‘intervention 
programme’ (as are all LA’s with a deficit) under which the ESFA will 
provide support and challenge but offers no funding support. There is an 
expectation that the Council will work towards setting an in-year balanced 
HN budget for 2022/23 and produce an action plan to reduce the 
accumulated deficit

5 Future SEN Demand

5.1 Officers within the SEND Team have been reviewing the current / future 
demand from children in Sefton requiring SEND support and whether there 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



are any gaps in provision and how the Local Authority can provide support 
in the most cost-effective way. A refreshed Graduated Approach guidance 
document has been produced and shared with schools to promote and 
support the level of SEN Support expected before a child should require an 
EHC Plan. The Local Authority has also engaged with one of the DfE’s 
partner services, Whole School SEND, to roll out training to mainstream 
school leaderships teams – ‘Every Leader a Leader of SEND’ to again 
emphasise the importance of mainstream inclusion and the roles schools 
have to play in this. 

5.2 As part of the High Needs Funding Review, the funding structure available 
to mainstream schools has also been reviewed, to ensure appropriate high 
needs funding is available to schools, whilst also balancing the budgetary 
aspects. A new banding system will allocate specific amounts for a child 
against the level of assessed need for them, ensuring certainty for schools 
and the Local Authority as to the amount of funding a child will receive. The 
new system will also time-limit the length of additional funding available to 
children without an EHC Plan, recognising that long term high levels of 
need would require an EHC Plan, and serving to focus the interventions put 
into place for a child over that period of time for the maximum impact.

5.3 Schools are also being encouraged to consider and request group funding 
applications, looking at provision suitable for cohorts of children, rather than 
each child individually. This will enable schools to plan more creatively and 
meet children’s needs more appropriately in mainstream with less reliance 
on 1:1 teaching assistants (although this will remain an option for schools 
when they feel this is the appropriate method of providing for a child). This 
approach is also anticipated to produce savings for schools and the Local 
Authority.

5.4 However, despite this and other ongoing efforts, over the next five years it 
is anticipated that the number of children with EHC PLAN’s requiring 
additional specialist support will increase by at least 194. Most of the 
additionality is required within the secondary sector where current provision 
is very limited compared to primary sector provision. However, increases in 
primary sector support are also required. A breakdown of net increase in 
numbers by need is as follows:

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Special 
Schools
Secondary 
ASD

20 
(Year 7)

20 
(Year 8)

20 
(Year 9)

20 
(Year 10)

20 
(Year 11)

SEMH KS1 &2 24 12
SEMH KS3 & 
4 (including 20 
places moved 
from IMPACT)

6
(Year 7) 
20 from 
IMPACT

6
(Year 8)

6
(Year 9)

6
(Year 10)

6
(Year 11)

Resourced 
Bases 
Hudson ASD 8

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



Freshfield ASD 8
Redgate SLD 8
Secondary 
ASD

20

5.5 There is currently not enough capacity in-house to accommodate the 
forecast increases in numbers and so it is imperative that the Local 
Authority creates the appropriate additional and cost-effective provision 
through the SEN capital programme. This must also include ensuring 
mainstream schools are equipped and encouraged to meet needs where 
possible, whilst maintaining high standards for all pupils.

5.6 There are currently 126 children accessing Independent ‘Out of Borough’ 
SEND Placements at a cost of more than £6m, however over the next five 
years 87 of the current cohort of children would naturally leave their current 
placements. The cost of these placements is more than £4.3m and so there 
is the potential for some savings from this situation if the Local Authority 
can place future demand in-house rather than in Out of Borough 
Placements. This would help mitigate some of the forecast increase 
demand costs over this time-period. 

5.7 The Local Authority is investigating several options with a range of schools 
to increase capacity within Sefton. Projects being investigated include two 
special schools working with the Local Authority to open a bespoke sixth 
form provision which would enable young people to undertake skills 
training, internships and apprenticeships with local businesses; developing 
a provision within a secondary academy to support young people with ASD; 
working with secondary academies to identify additional Resource Base 
provision for the children coming through primary schools; adapting 
buildings in several schools to provide accommodation enabling pupils to 
remain in mainstream schools; moving the complimentary education 
service to more appropriate provision and expanding their remit; working 
with Social Care to develop a 38 week provision in borough. 

5.8 The following table provides an overview of the accumulated financial 
deficit position of the High Needs Block since 2017/18 and future forecast 
deficit projection. The forecast deficit position assumes that funding 
increases from 2023/24 at the same rate as 2022/23 and also assumes any 
future increased demand for SEN places is  provided either, through 
additional in-house Special School provision or the redesignation of some 
internal School Resource Units so they are able to accommodate more 
challenging children and reduce the pressure for Special School places

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 F’Cast F’Cast F’Cast

£'000 £'000 £'000 2022/23 
£’000

2023/24 
£’000

2024/25 
£’000

HN  Expenditure
Increase in spend compared to 
previous year  / forecast demand 1,390 1,485 3,002 2,101 2,317 3,429 2,400 2,400

Total HN  Expenditure 28,541 30,026 33,028 35,129 37,446 40,875 43,275 45,675

NET ESFA Funding - (9% uplift 
assumed from 2022/23) 26,062 26,448 27,278 31,290 34,577 37,857 41,264 44,978

Special/AP Teachers Pay & Pensions 
funding 0 0 0 0 649 649 649 649

Schools Block Funding Contribution 0 450 795 824 430 0 0 0

Early Years Block Contribution 0 200 200 200 0 0 0 0

Other grants e. 6th Form Grant 
(integrated with HN funding from 
2020/21)

650 650 264 0 0 0 0 0

Total HN Funding Allocation 26,712 27,748 28,537 32,314 35,656 38,506 41,913 45,627

In-Year (Surplus) / Deficit 1,829 2,278 4,491 2,815 1,790 2,369 1,362 48

Transfer of Early Years Balances -2,700

Balance Bfwd from Previous Year -464 1,365 3,643 5,434 8,249 10,039 12,408 13,770

Accumulative (Surplus) / Deficit 1,365 3,643 5,434 8,249 10,039 12,408 13,770 13,818

2020/21 
£’000

Aug 
2021/22 

£’000

5.9  Based upon these projections there is the potential for a break-even 
situation to be achieved in the budget by 2024/25. This is dependent 
however, on the Local Authority being able to create the required specialist 
placements within the maintained sector in the timeframes required and 
providing the appropriate level of funding to those schools to enable them 
to deliver the levels of support required, with appropriately qualified staffing, 
facilities and therapeutic support. If the Local Authority is to be able to 
reduce independent placements it must have placements available that 
provide the appropriate support, and so either influence parental 
preference to choose maintained provision instead, or be of sufficient levels 
to withstand the challenge of tribunal appeals and be able to evidence an 
ability to meet a child’s needs as equally as the independent provision. If 
this is achieved, whilst there will still be a low level of children requiring 
independent provision due to complexity of need, this should reduce the 
levels of independent placements significantly.

5.10  One of the key elements of this factor is not just the funding for places to 
be agreed but also the availability of sites to house the provision required. 
Current special school buildings where additional spaces will be required 
are already at maximum physical capacity, with limited options for build 
expansion. New/repurposed sites will be required to enable satellite 
provision to be created for these settings. This will require capital funding to 
enable this to take place. If this cannot be done or sites cannot be made 
available there is a significant risk to this work being successful and the 
budget reaching a break-even position. It is envisaged there may need to 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



be an ‘invest to save’ approach required to enable build/refit projects to 
take place to create the budget savings in the longer term.

5.11 The accumulated DSG deficit is a major financial concern to the Council 
and as such, will be reported to the external auditor and annual reports will 
come back to cabinet and council tracking progress

6 High Needs Funding Formula Review

6.1 The funding mechanism for High Needs funding to Special Schools, 
Resource Units and AP settings was last reviewed back in 2012/13. Since 
that time, both Place and Top-up funding has remained relatively constant 
although settings have seen annual uplifts in pay and price increases. 
Demand for places has grown exponentially across the Borough, especially 
since 2018/19 when demand started to exceed supply of local places, 
leading to many children having to be placed in expensive out of Borough 
Independent or Non-maintained Special Schools.

6.2 External Special provision can be extremely expensive, and the costs can 
make a big impact on High Needs overspending, and once committed to, 
are difficult to reduce, as numbers move from year to year and new 
entrants are added. Average annual costs of a placement in an 
Independent special school are £46,000 pa compared to a Sefton Special 
School at £22,500 pa

6.3 Sefton’s Special schools cater for a range of special needs and disabilities 
with all children having an Education Health and Care Plan and ideally 
would be the preferred path for placing Sefton Children requiring specialist 
education provision. As the number of EHC PLANs increases the plan 
should be to grow the internal Sefton Maintained SEND provision, whilst 
reducing the need for external placements, with the increased costs of one, 
being offset by the reducing costs of the other

6.4 Although many of our Special Schools are taking in extra pupils above their 
agreed number capacity is an issue at some in-house provision who are 
now finding it hard to be able to accept more pupils on request and so this 
is leading to independent special schools being selected as an alternative. 

6.5 Growing in-house provision is dependent on several factors, not least the 
physical ability of local schools to accommodate extra places The 
expansion of in-house SEND provision is an issue that is being addressed 
through SEN Capital investment programme, however the amount of 
capital funding provided from the Government is not that great and only 
minor changes in school settings can be brokered through this programme.

6.6 The geography of the Borough and its Special Schools can also cause 
issues, not just for attendance, but for the extra costs of home to school 
transport, which is always under pressure as a Council budget and so any 
expansion programme of SEN provision has to be carefully managed.

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



6.7 The current financial forecast for Sefton’s Maintained Special Schools 
indicates that, although all 5 Special schools are currently in a surplus 
position, as at 31 March 2021, balances are  likely to quickly deteriorate 
over the next 2 to 3 years with all schools being in a deficit budget position 
unless a revised funding mechanism is in place. The table below provides 
an anonymised financial forecast for all 5 schools (as at August 2021), 
however individual school forecasts may have changed due to changes in 
placements / student needs etc for the new academic year.

 School A School B School C School D School E
Balances B'fwd 
2020/21 £321,398 £246,389 £713,554 £415,958 £937,389
Est. Balances 
31/03/2022 £114,238 £101,206 £345,648 £151,485 £693,314
Est. Balances 
31/03/2023 -£204,999 -£1,289 £154,440 -£108,318 £235,258
Est. Balances 
31/03/2024 -£659,919 -£194,626 -£132,323 -£513,039 -£477,806

6.8 As part of the High Needs review programme, the current High Needs 
Formula Funding Model has been reviewed to make it fit for purpose going 
forward, provide transparency over the level of funding provided for each 
placement and provide financial stability for schools going forward.

6.9 Thus new funding model would address the projected deficit position facing 
all Sefton Special Schools and right size their school budgets and provide 
stability of placements for existing/future SEND placements.

6.10 The cost of implementing the proposed new High Needs Formula model 
will approximately add an additional £1.8m of cost pressure over a 2-year 
period. This would be over and above the existing estimated in-year deficit 
pressure highlighted above in paragraph 5.7. However, it would right-size 
the Sefton Special Schools budgets and ensure they did not fall into a 
deficit position. It should also ensure that the schools are able to meet the 
needs of the children in their placements successfully, with appropriate 
staffing levels and provision able to be provided for the children.

6.11 It was felt that no new funding model could be introduced while Special 
Schools currently held such high balances (£2.6m end of 2020/21), with 
one school alone holding just under £1m in balances. The additional 
financial cost of the new funding model could be phased in and managed 
by using some of the Special Schools projected surplus balances to offset 
part of the initial pressure on the HN budget in the first two years of 
implementation. This would help lessen the impact on increased High 
Needs spending, whilst also ensuring the financial stability of Special 
Schools budgets over the next three to four years. The table below 
provides an overview of the revised financial deficit position facing the HN 
Block if this was agreed:

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 F’Cast F’Cast F’Cast

£'000 £'000 £'000 2022/23 
£’000

2023/24 
£’000

2024/25 
£’000

Accumulative (Surplus) / Deficit 1,365 3,643 5,434 8,249 10,039 12,408 13,770 13,818

Additional cost of implementation of New 
HN Funding Model - 1st April 2022 1,686 1,916 1,916

Contribution from Special School 
balances to support implementation -780 -280 0

Revised (Surplus) / Deficit 13,314 15,406 15,734

2020/21 
£’000

Aug 
2021/22 

£’000

6.12 If this approach was approved by Council Members, then this would need 
to be discussed, and accepted, with schools once an agreed mechanism 
was put out to a consultation process.

6.13 This would also allow time for the planned development of new places to 
increase in-house SEND provision over the next couple of years to meet 
forecast demand, and thereby help to reduce reliance on expensive out of 
Borough placements.

6.14 If the Council continues to apply the current funding model rather than the 
revised funding model then 3 special schools will have exhausted all 
balances by 31/3/2023 and all schools will be forced to reduce current 
spending commitments to balance in-year budget deficits in future years.

6.15  Any reduction in staffing levels in Special Schools will inevitably affect the 
existing number of In-House placements in Sefton schools and again 
increase the reliance on more expensive placements in Out of Borough 
provision leading to higher overspending against High Needs Budgets.

7.0 Financial Context and Implications

7.1 This report outlines the significant financial issues facing the council in 
relation to its High Needs Budget and DSG.  From the report there is a 
consistent and substantial financial gap each year between the resources 
that are available for this provision and the demand and resulting costs that 
exists.

7.2 Within the report there is a recommendation to increase the funding to 
schools that will maintain current provision.  This funding is more than that 
available to the council therefore it further increases the risk exposure that 
the council will face.

7.3 The report details that currently the Department for Education is clear that 
councils general fund resources should not be used to fund the DSG, 
however it is unclear as to how deficits that continue to grow in both Sefton 
and nationally should be funded. As a result of this, this deficit represents a 
significant issue for the future financial sustainability of the council.

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



7.4 The financial forecasts within the report outline a position that assumes 
further annual increases in budget like previous years and the provision of 
more places within Sefton that will reduce the cost of out of Borough 
placements. Similarly the report also outlines that it is hoped that these 
future resource allocations and indeed details of potential revised 
methodology for funding and changes to the High Needs regime including 
how deficits will be treated will be forthcoming via the comprehensive 
spending review and wider local government settlement in the last quarter 
of 2021.

7.5 In addressing this issue within the council , in the first instance it is 
proposed that the February Cabinet meeting will receive a report from the 
Executive Director of Children’s Social Care and Education on the future 
funding allocation and overall approach to High Needs that central 
government will take forward and what that will mean for the estimates and 
approach contained within this report.  Likewise, if no changes are 
proposed, the council will need to understand what that will mean for this 
budget and risk going forward. Following that it is proposed that each 
quarter a report will be presented to Cabinet by the Executive Director for 
Children’s Social Care and Education that will provide updates on provision 
of the service, financial implications including assessment of progress 
against these latest estimates and also details of the propose investment 
plan to develop more provision within Sefton that will reduce risk and cost 
and is central to the financial assumptions in this paper.

7.6 Whilst this work will be positive in managing the councils exposure moving 
forward, in the event that central government does not provide advice on 
how deficits will be met that removes the risk to the Council, it is 
recommended that the Council will need to start to develop a financial plan 
for how any deficit will be met  should this need to be funded.  The Councils 
current general fund or earmarked reserves would not provide the ability to 
fund this size of deficit and for the financial sustainability of the council, it 
cannot increase as is currently the case in perpetuity.  This long-term plan 
would be included in future budget planning and engagement with the 
External Auditor will be required to ensure that the approach is robust and 
provides the required assurance that the council has a plan in place.

7.7 As stated, whilst central government guidance is that the general fund 
should not be used to fund this deficit, the council cannot accommodate 
such financial exposure without having a long term remedial plan in place, 
whilst acknowledging that this will reduce the funding available for core 
general fund service delivery.

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of 
Meeting:

2nd December 2021

Subject: Selective and Additional (HMO) Licensing Schemes – 
Introduction of the Business Case

Report of: Head of Economic 
Growth & Housing

Wards Affected: Linacre, Derby, 
Litherland, 
Cambridge, Dukes, 
Kew, Church, 
Blundellsands & 
Victoria

Cabinet Portfolio: Cabinet Member – Communities & Housing

Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

To consider the need to re-designate both the Selective licensing scheme and 2 x 
Additional HMO licensing schemes in designated areas of the borough and introduce 
the Business case to support the re-designation of the schemes. 

To consider the implementation of a 12-week consultation in relation to the re-
designation of the selective licensing scheme and 2 additional HMO licensing 
schemes.

Recommendations

(1) To approve in principle (subject to public consultation) the re-designation of the 
selective licensing scheme in the Bootle area and 2 Additional HMO licensing 
schemes in central Southport and areas of Waterloo/Seaforth.

(2) To agree to a 12-week public consultation for the implementation of the 
schemes.

(3) To give authority to the Head of Economic Growth & Housing, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Communities and Housing to; 

   (i)   Procure and appoint consultants to undertake the required public       
consultation  on the 3 proposed schemes, and
   (ii)  Agree any minor/technical changes to the Business Case in advance of 
the formal consultation.

     
(4) To approve in principle the draft licensing conditions including the associated 

fees

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



(5) Approve in principle a supplementary revenue estimate of £2,268,565 which will 
be fully funded by licence fee income.

(6) Cabinet notes that a further report will be submitted to Cabinet upon the 
conclusion of the consultations with recommendations to approve schemes as 
appropriate

  Reasons for the Recommendations:

Cabinet authority is required for the re-designation of a Selective and 2 Additional 
(HMO) Licensing schemes within the Borough. Authority is also required to 
procure and appoint consultants, carry out a public consultation and to approve in 
principle the draft licence conditions.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

1.Do nothing

Sefton could choose not to consult on a proposed re-designation of the current housing 
licensing schemes and revert back to a solely reactive service, responding to complaints, 
linked with more aggressive promotion of the Landlord Accreditation scheme. This option 
is unlikely to have significant impact due to Landlord Accreditation being a voluntary 
scheme, with only the better landlords obtaining accreditation status.

2. Expand the Enforcement Regime

The Council also has a continued reactive enforcement approach in relation to privately 
rented properties, dealing with cases as they present themselves, generally from 
complaints from tenants. A more proactive approach could be taken to target the worst 
landlords. This would develop an outward facing image of enforcement in relation to 
rogue landlords.

To practically do this would involve the need to increase the resourcing allocated to the 
Housing Standards Team by a minimum of 4 additional posts. This cost could be up to 
£210,161 per annum.

This is a more traditional enforcement approach and less of an enabling one than 
licensing has brought.

3. Introduce a borough wide Selective Licensing Scheme

Officers also considered introducing a district-wide scheme but this was not taken 
forward because the evidence is not yet sufficient to introduce the whole district and 
therefore such an application is unlikely to be supported by the Secretary of State (who 
has to agree to the implementation of the scheme).

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
Page 50

Agenda Item 8



Staff resources will be required to operate the schemes. The resources that operate the 
current licensing schemes will be the same as those proposed to operate the new 
schemes. The schemes have been costed and the licence fees set to make the schemes 
self-financing. The gross expenditure will be £2,268,565 and the income will be 
£2,268,565. The expenditure will therefore be fully funded through licensing income. 

(B) Capital Costs

There are no direct capital costs associated with the recommendations in this report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The schemes have been costed and proposed licence fees should cover the costs of 
the operation of the scheme over the 5 years. The schemes should be cost neutral 
and self-financing. 
Staff resources will be required to operate the scheme over the 5-year period. The 
cost of these staff has been incorporated in the setting of licence fees.

Legal Implications:
Part 2 & 3 of the Housing Act 2004 sets out the legislative framework for Selective 
and Additional (HMO) Licensing.  Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004 allows the local 
authority to designate the area of their district or an area in their district as subject to 
selective licensing.  Section 56 of the Housing Act 2004 allows the local authority to 
designate the area of their district or an area in their district as subject to additional 
licensing.

Equality Implications:

No equalities implications identified. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
Have a neutral impact N
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

As part of the licensing process, the application requires the submission of an Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC), so the team are able to monitor the energy 
performance of the private rented sector and instruct landlords to carry out energy 
performing improvements when required. Licensing helps the Council identify those 
properties that should not be used as private rented accommodation. 

The Licence Holder must provide the tenant of the licenced dwelling with an Energy 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



Performance Certificate, so the tenant is able to make an informed choice. The 
Licence Holder must provide a copy of the EPC to the Council on demand. A property 
cannot be privately rented if the property has an EPC rating of F or G (38 or lower).

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
 

Protect the most vulnerable:
During 2016 Sefton Council led on developing a new and exciting vision for the future of 
the borough. One pledge from the vision was to work together to ensure housing choice 
across all types and tenures across the Borough which will ensure Sefton people have 
housing choice. 

Many vulnerable residents live in the private rented sector. Licensing ensures that the 
properties are well managed and of a good standard.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
Tenants residing in the private rented sector should gain increased confidence in their 
landlords. The licence conditions will provide them with the knowledge of what is 
expected of the landlord and tenant, in order to maintain standards within their homes. 

Commission, broker and provide core services:
As Local Housing Authority Sefton has an obligation to ensure that housing quality in 
the borough is maintained. Licensing is a crucial to allowing the Council to discharge 
this duty. 
Place – leadership and influencer: 

Licensing is an example of the Council providing leadership and influence on owners of 
properties in our communities to work towards a common goal of high quality housing.
Drivers of change and reform:

The proposals in this paper will mean that the Council continues to play a key role in 
leading change and reform to improve outcomes for Sefton residents and continuously 
improve the borough.
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Having a good place to live is essential for the future success and prosperity of our 
residents.

Greater income for social investment: 

Income from the Licensing scheme is reinvested back into the service to further ensure 
that good quality is available for our residents.
Cleaner Greener:
Housing Licensing helps to improve the housing standards of the private rented sector. 
The properties have to be well managed which includes complying with minimum 
energy efficiency standards.

Page 52

Agenda Item 8



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultation
The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6609/21) and 
the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4810/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External partners

The proposals will be the subject of an extensive public consultation exercise in 2022.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Clare Taylor
Telephone Number: 07812030362
Email Address: Clare.taylor@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

Appendix 1 - Business case – To view Appendix 1 please follow the link below.
Appendix 2  - 9 x Appendices to the Business Case – To view Appendix 2 please follow 
the link below

Appendix 1  https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Cabinet%20-
%2021221%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Re-
Designation%20of%20S&ID=2918&RPID=31518175

Appendix 2 
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2921&ID=2921&RPID=3151
8243

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Background

1.1 Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004 allows local authorities to apply for selective 
licensing of privately rented properties in the whole of their district or in an area of 
their district. The main provisions in respect of selective licensing came into force 
in April 2006. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Cabinet%20-%2021221%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Re-Designation%20of%20S&ID=2918&RPID=31518175
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Cabinet%20-%2021221%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Re-Designation%20of%20S&ID=2918&RPID=31518175
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Cabinet%20-%2021221%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Re-Designation%20of%20S&ID=2918&RPID=31518175
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2921&ID=2921&RPID=31518243
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2921&ID=2921&RPID=31518243


1.2 The Act provides a discretionary power, subject to carrying out consultation and to 
the approval of the appropriate national authority (Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government), for Local Housing Authorities to license all 
private landlords in a designated area with the intention of ensuring that a 
minimum standard of management is met. 

1.3 Additional Licensing under section 56 of the Housing Act 2004 allows the local 
authority to designate either the whole of their district or an area within their 
district as subject to an additional (HMO) licensing scheme. A local authority must 
consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of a defined description, in 
either a designated area or across the whole of the borough are being managed 
insufficiently enough to give rise to one or more particular problems either for 
those occupying the property or for members of the public.

1.4 Appendix 1 of this report presents the Business Case to re-designate the 
Selective Licensing Scheme and 2 Additional (HMO) Licensing Schemes in 
Sefton.

2. Sefton Context

2.1 As of 2011 it was estimated that around 13% of households live in the private 
rented sector – this compared with 15% for the region and 17% nationally at that 
time. The number of households living in the private rented sector has risen 
significantly in line with national increases – an estimated 15,804 households live 
in private rented accommodation (2011) which is 64% higher than the figure (of 
9,616) recorded in the 2001 Census. Private Sector Stock Condition modelling 
commissioned by Sefton and undertaken by BRE in 2018, estimated that 2,750 
dwellings in the Privately Rented Sector (PRS) have Category 1 hazards. Category 
1 hazards are the most serious hazards as defined in the Housing Health & Safety 
Rating System (HHSRS). This equates to 14.3% of properties within the PRS as 
suffering from these health and safety issues. 

The highest concentrations of all HHSRS Category one Hazards for all housing 
stock within Sefton are found in Dukes and Cambridge wards (Southport), Church 
ward (Waterloo) and Derby and Litherland wards (Bootle). 

3.     Selective licensing

3.1 Selective Licensing will be compulsory and applies to all private rented properties 
in a designated selective licensing area with the exception of those already 
subject to Mandatory HMO Licensing or those exempt from licensing. In the areas 
where selective licensing would be applied, all landlords will be required to hold a 
license in order to rent out a property. The license lasts for the duration of the 5-
year scheme. 

3.2 To qualify for a license a landlord must be able to demonstrate that they are acting 
within the law and taking adequate steps to manage their properties and keep 
them safe. During the 5 year licence period a compliance inspection will be carried 
out on the majority of properties to ensure they meet the required standards for 
residential accommodation. In addition, a ‘fit and proper’ person test will be 
applied to test the landlord’s suitability to manage a tenancy. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 8



3.3 The council is satisfied that the area proposed for a selective licensing designation 
meets three of the six legal tests set out in the Housing Act 2004.  The 
designation is proposed on the basis of anti-social behaviour, housing conditions 
and deprivation.  A designation based on migration, low demand or crime is not 
proposed.  Only one test needs to be proved to make a designation lawful. 

4.    Additional (HMO) Licensing

4.1 Additional (HMO) Licensing will operate in the same way and alongside the 
existing Mandatory HMO Licensing scheme that operates across the Borough. 
Mandatory licensing requires that a certain type of HMO must have a licence. 
These are those that house 5 or more people who form 2 or more households and 
do not have all facilities within a self-contained unit, i.e. bathroom or kitchen.  The 
same process will be followed, with the same legal obligations and penalties for 
failing to comply with the requirements.

4.2 Additional Licensing will require all privately rented HMOs of any description, 
which are located within designated areas, to be licensed.  Sefton proposes to 
implement Additional licensing in parts of Southport and 
Waterloo/Seaforth/Brighton Le Sands.  

4.3 Before making an Additional HMO licensing designation for a particular area, a 
local authority must consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of that 
description in the area are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, 
or to be likely to give rise, to one or more particular problems either for those 
occupying the HMOs or for members of the public.

4.4 The Council is satisfied that the 2 proposed areas for an Additional (HMO) 
licensing designation do meet the criteria.

5. Justification for the re-designation of the licensing schemes

5.1 The business case evaluates and highlights the successes relating to the 
implementation of the current private sector licensing schemes in March 2018. 
However, it also outlines the requirements for the continuation of these schemes; 
to further improve the housing conditions and management for our residents in the 
private rented sector and to fully achieve Sefton’s strategic housing vision.
Already, improvements are showing across property conditions, crime and ASB.  
There is though clearly more to do, particularly around the management of 
privately rented properties and to improve the living conditions of its residents, and 
if the scheme was not extended it is likely that issues would re-emerge in these 
area over time.  Therefore, the Council feels that by re-designating both the 
Selective and the Additional (HMO) licensing schemes for another 5 years, further 
improvements will continue to be made.

5.2 The positive impact of the current scheme is clear and since the commencement 
of the licencing schemes in March 2018 to end of August 2021, 288 licensable 
properties have had serious Category 1 hazards removed. The total number of 
hazards removed from all licensable properties is 1113, 370 of which have been 
the most serious Category 1 hazards. The main hazards that have been removed 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



from the properties are hazards relating to fire safety, electrical hazards, damp & 
mould, excess cold and falls between levels.
In the first 3 years of the schemes 570 compliance visits took place. Of those 570 
inspections, 330 properties were non-compliant on first inspection, equating to 
58%.  However, following informal intervention by the Housing Standards Team, 
98% of these properties became compliant. The main reasons for non-compliance 
was the failure to have a Gas Safe report for the property, failure to have an 
Electrical Installation Condition Report where required, and failure to have smoke 
alarms fitted.

5.3 To summarise, there is evidence to indicate that the licensing schemes are 
leading to improvements in housing conditions. Selective and Additional (HMO) 
licensing and the need to obtain a licence has helped Sefton Council identify high 
risk properties requiring intervention, often where tenants would not have risked 
complaining to their landlord. The application process has highlighted just how 
many properties do not have the minimum requirements such as a Gas Safe 
Certificate. Without licensing, it is fair to conclude that most of these properties 
would remain without one, leaving tenants at serious risk

5.4 Since the introduction of the Selective licensing within Bootle, there has been a 
significant overall reduction in the rate of anti-social behaviour in every single one 
of the individual Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA), that comprise the licensing 
boundary. Although the overall ASB rate and specifically the environmental ASB 
rates are falling in the Bootle Selective Licensing area, the ASB data still 
highlights that this area still has some way to go in terms of reducing the impacts 
of all ASB to a rate that is similar or equal to the overall Borough rates. Therefore, 
there is a strong argument presented, regarding the continuation of a selective 
licensing scheme in Bootle. 

5.5 All of the LSOAs in the Bootle Selective Licensing area are ranked within the most 
deprived quintile (20%) nationally.  Within this Selective Licensing boundary there 
are areas suffering from severe deprivation, seven are ranked within the most 
deprived 1% nationally and seven are ranked within the most deprived 5%. 
Therefore, this Selective Licensing area can still be considered as suffering from 
extremely high levels of deprivation

5.6 In relation to the proposed Additional (HMO) Licensing schemes re-designation, 
evidence of poor management practices are demonstrated through poor 
conditions or within the local community including ASB and crime. Over the 3.5-
year period of the current Additional Licensing schemes, 189 service requests 
were received from HMO properties. 153 of those were from HMOs within the 
licensing areas equating to 81%.  This provides evidence of poor property 
management across this sector and specifically within the proposed designated 
areas. Parts of Waterloo/Seaforth and central Southport have high levels of 
deprivation, being within the worst 10% most deprived areas nationally.   Both 
areas also have above the national average of flats/maisonettes within the PRS 
and have a significant stock of larger style properties that in recent years have 
been prone to conversion, to either bedsits or self-contained flats.

5.7 Re-designating the Additional (HMO) Licensing areas will continue to build upon 
improvements to the management standards in this sector, improve living 
conditions and ultimately lead to a better quality of life for residents.  It will help the 

Page 56

Agenda Item 8



areas to be more conducive to good landlords but provide an environment that is 
less opportunistic and attractive for poor and rogue landlords.

6.      Fees

6.1 The proposed licence fees below have been based on knowledge-based estimate 
of the number of properties that will require a licence.  This calculated income 
stream, although cannot be guaranteed as it is dependent upon the number of 
applications received when the scheme is launched, is a reliable estimate, as the 
current licensing schemes have provided a sound evidence base for the number 
of properties that will require a licence. The fees are subject to annual review to 
ensure recovery of all relevant costs. We propose to keep the licence fee for 
Selective licences the same as the fee in the current scheme. We have made 
proposed changes to multiple property owner’s level of fee. We are proposing to 
increase the fee for HMOs in the Additional Licensing areas. The reasoning for 
this is detailed in the Business Case, but due in the main, to the additional amount 
of work involved in the licensing of these types of properties. We have not 
included an early bird discount fee in these proposals.

Selective Licensing £ Annual 
Equiv. £

Weekly 
Equiv. £

Full Fee 695 139 2.67
Accreditation 545 109 2.10
Accredited Managing 
Agents

495 99 1.90

In addition to the above fee:
For each additional unit (under the same ownership, within the same building) a 
charge of £30 per additional unit will apply.

Additional (HMO) 
Licensing £ Annual Equiv. Weekly 

Equiv.

Full Fee 950 190 3.65
Accreditation 800 160 3.08
Accredited Managing 
Agents

750 150 2.88

In addition to the above fee:
For each additional unit (under the control of the same proposed licence holder, 
within the same building) a charge of £30 per additional unit will apply.

6.2 A review of fees will be undertaken annually and will be adjusted to reflect 
changes in costs – with any changes approved by Cabinet Member in line with the 
Financial Procedure Rules. The fees are in line with the findings of the decision of 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



Hemming v Westminster City Council, which ruled that fees should be paid in 2 
stages : on application a fee is charged that amounts purely to the costs of the 
authorisation procedures and once the application is successful, a further fee to 
cover the costs of enforcement of the scheme is paid.

7. Resources

7.1 The schemes generate high levels of work and needs to be resourced 
accordingly.  A team of 11.5 staff will be required to manage the workload.  The 
team will be staffed sufficiently to process Selective and Additional (HMO) 
applications and enforce the schemes. The team will be funded from licence 
application fees. The level of staffing is the same as current levels and there is no 
requirement for additional staff.

The team will comprise of:-
 1 Senior Housing Practitioner
 3 x Housing Practitioners
 5 x Housing Compliance Officers
 2 x Admin Support 
 0.5 x Legal Officer

8.    Consultation

8.1 Consultation is a key feature of the development of the proposals.  Section 56 (3) 
& Section 80 (9) of the Housing Act 2004 requires that before making a 
designation, the local authority is required to undertake a formal consultation 
process on the proposed implementation of the selective and additional licensing 
designations and take reasonable steps to consult with persons likely to be 
affected.  This should include local residents, including tenants, landlords, 
managing agents and other members of the community who live or operate 
businesses or provide services within the proposed designation and neighbouring 
areas that may be affected.  

8.2 Our engagement and consultation process will last for a period of 12 weeks, which 
is scheduled to commence, subject to Cabinet Approval, in May 2022.

8.3 To provide an impartial consultation Sefton intends to commission an external 
consultant to undertake the consultation process. 

8.4 Further information about the consultation process and how to get involved will be 
provided on Sefton’s website and everyone who is likely to be directly affected by 
the proposals will be contacted and invited to participate in the consultation.  The 
consultation will be widely promoted.

9. Licence conditions

9.1 Licence holder will be required to comply with conditions on their licence. Some of 
these conditions are mandatory and have to be applied to each licence, as 
defined in the Housing Act 2004. Each licence will also have a further set of 

Page 58

Agenda Item 8



conditions that are specific to Sefton. The draft Selective licensing conditions are 
in Appendix 2 of the Business Case. The draft Additional (HMO)Licensing 
conditions are attached in Appendix 4 of the Business Case. 

10. Areas

10.1 Selective licensing is proposed to be introduced in an area of Bootle. See 
Appendix 1 of the Business Case.

10.2 Additional (HMO) Licensing is proposed in 2 areas of the Borough. One in central 
Southport and one in the Waterloo/Seaforth area.  See Appendix 3 of the 
Business Case. 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet
Council

Date of Meeting: 2 December 2021
20 January 2022
 

Subject: Programme of Meetings – 2022/23 Municipal Year
 

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer

Wards Affected: All

Cabinet Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

To seek approval of a Programme of Meetings for the 2022/23 Municipal Year.

Recommendation:

Cabinet

That the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement and 
Consultation Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for 2022/23 as set out in Annexes A and D of the report be 
approved.

Council

(1) the Programme of Meetings for the Council, Member Briefing Sessions; 
Regulatory Committees; and Overview and Scrutiny Committees for 
2022/23 as set out in Annexes B and C of the report be approved; and

(2) the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement and 
Consultation Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health 
and Wellbeing Board for 2022/23 as set out in Annexes A and D of the 
report be noted.

 
Reasons for the Recommendation:

To enable the business of the Council and its various Committees/bodies to be 
conducted during the 2022/23 Municipal Year.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.  The Council is required to produce a programme of meetings.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



(A) Revenue Costs – None

(B) Capital Costs – None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:
None

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: The Programme of Meetings for 2022/23 will be 
published on the Council’s website for the benefit of the residents of Sefton and the 
wider general public.  This will raise awareness of the Council’s political 
management system and allow the opportunity for the public to engage in the 
Council’s democratic processes.

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?
Page 62

Agenda Item 9



(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6608/21) 
has been consulted and notes there are no direct financial implications arising from this 
report.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4809/21) is the author of this report.

Chief Executive
Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services
Head of Communities
Head of Strategic Support
Head of Health and Wellbeing
Chief Planning Officer

(B) External Consultations 

Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner 

Implementation Date for the Decision

In respect of the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement and 
Consultation Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board the implementation date will be upon the expiry of the call-in period of the minutes 
of the Cabinet meeting.  

In respect of the Programme of Meetings for the Council, Member Briefing Sessions; 
Regulatory Committees; and Overview and Scrutiny Committees immediately following 
the Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Paul Fraser
Telephone Number: 0151 934 2068
Email Address: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk 

Appendices:

Annex A - Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet in 2022/23
Annex B - Programme of Meetings for the Council, Members’ Briefing Sessions and       
Regulatory Committees in 2022/23
Annex C - Programme of Meetings for the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in          
2022/23
Annex D - Programme of Meetings for the Public Engagement and Consultation         
Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health and           Wellbeing 
Board in 2022/23

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

Page 63

Agenda Item 9

mailto:paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


1.1 The Council is required to establish a programme of meetings for the 2022/23 
Municipal Year.

1.2 Annexes are attached to the report setting out the suggested programme.

1.3 Similar to the arrangements put in place last year once the programme of 
meetings have been approved, an “in-house” diary will be produced for 
Members of the Council.

2. Programme of Meetings 2022/23

2.1 The key principles of the Programme of Meetings are as follows:

 Five Ordinary Council Meetings to be held every 8 weeks on a 
Thursday commencing at 6.30 p.m. plus the Budget Council Meeting to 
be held on 2 March 2023. 

 Council will not meet on the same day as Cabinet.  
 Members’ Briefing Sessions to be held at 5.00 p.m. prior to the five 

Ordinary Council Meetings.
 No meetings will be held:

 In the period between Christmas and New Year (December 
2022/January 2023)

 In April 2023 except for the meetings of the Planning Committee, 
Cabinet and Council.

 As far as possible no meetings will be held during the school half term 
holiday weeks.

 The programme of meetings indicates that all meetings will alternate 
between Bootle and Southport Town Halls. 

 Cabinet Meetings to be held on a Thursday at 10.00 a.m. The first 
meeting to be held on 26 May 2022.

 Planning Committee to meet every four weeks on a Wednesday. 
 Planning Visiting Panel to meet 2 days prior to each meeting of the 

Planning Committee to undertake site visits as agreed by the 
Committee.

 Each of the 4 Overview and Scrutiny Committees to meet bi monthly, 5 
times during the year commencing at 6.30 p.m. – the main Overview 
and Scrutiny work will be done by Working Groups established on an 
ad hoc basis.

 Special meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regulatory, 
Compliance and Corporate Services) to be held on 7 February 2023 to 
scrutinise the Cabinet budget process.

 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board to meet 5 times per year, 
commencing at 4.30 p.m.

 Licensing and Regulatory Committee to meet quarterly on a Monday 
commencing at 6.30 p.m.

 Meetings of the Licensing Sub-Committee to be convened as and when 
required.

 Audit and Governance Committee to meet every quarter (4 meetings 
per year) on a Wednesday commencing at 3.00 p.m. in order to meet 
statutory requirements etc. A special meeting of the Committee will be 

Page 64

Agenda Item 9



held on 20 July 2022 to audit the Statement of Accounts
 Pay and Grading Committee to be convened as and when required.
 Health and Wellbeing Board to meet 4 times per year.
 The dates for the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel, which 

are not public meetings are included in the Corporate Calendar.

3. Calendar of Meetings

3.1 A copy of the Calendar of Meetings for 2022/23 and associated annexes are 
attached.

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX A
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON

PROGRAMME OF CABINET MEETINGS - 2022/2023

2022 2023
Meeting Day Time Venue May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

CABINET Thur. 10.00 a.m. B 26 28 6 1 2 9 25

S 23 1 3 5 9 6

 Budget Meeting

Key to Venues:

B - Bootle Town Hall

S - Southport Town Hall

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 9



ANNEX B
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON

PROGRAMME OF COUNCIL, MEMBERS’ BRIEFING SESSIONS AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETINGS ETC. - 2022/2023

2022 2023
Meeting Day Time Venue May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

COUNCIL Thur. 6.30 p.m. B 19 15 19 2 16
Tue

S 17  14 17 20 18º 

Thur. 5.00 p.m. B 15 19MEMBERS’ BRIEFING 
SESSIONS
Prior to each Ordinary Council 
Meeting. Confirmation that 
Briefing Sessions will be held 
will be notified to Members 
nearer the time

S 14 17 20

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

Wed. 3.00 p.m. B 22 20 14

S 7 15

APPEALS (FOR PERSONNEL 
CASES) - as and when required

Thur. -

-

LICENSING AND REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE

Mon. 6.30 p.m. B 13 9

S 5 13

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 
as and when required 

B

S

PLANNING COMMITTEE Wed. 6.30 p.m. B ↨25 29 24 19 14 8 12 ↨24

S 1 27 21 16 18 15

PLANNING VISITING PANEL Mon 10.00 a.m. B 30 27 25 22 19 17 14 12 16 6 13 
 

11

PAY AND GRADING 
COMMITTEE – as and when 
required
  Annual Meeting 2022/23 - commences at 6.00 p.m.  (Tuesday) (Venue to be determined)
 Adjourned Annual Meeting - Appointment of Committees etc. for 2022/23 
 Budget Meeting 

  Annual Meeting 2023/2024 - commences at 6.00 p.m. (Tuesday) (Venue to be 
determined)
º Adjourned Annual Meeting - Appointment of Committees etc. for 2023/2024 

↨Mandatory Planning Committee 

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 9



ANNEX C
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON

PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS FOR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES - 2022/2023
(Tuesday)

2022 2023

Meeting Venue May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE (Adult Social Care)

B 21 18 21

(6.30 p.m.) (Tue) S 6 3

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

B 13 10 *7

(Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services) (Tue)
(6.30 p.m.)

S 14 1 28

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE (Regeneration and

B 28 8 7

Skills)
(6.30 p.m.) (Tue)

S 20 17

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE (Children’s Services 
and Safeguarding)

B 5 15 14

(6.30 p.m.) (Tue) S 27 24

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
MANAGEMENT BOARD (4.30 p.m.)

B 21 13 8 10 14

(Tue) S

* Special meeting to consider Budget proposals. 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 9



ANNEX D
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON

PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS FOR PARTNERSHIP MEETINGS- 2022/2023

2021 2022
Meeting Day Time Venue May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL ^

Fri 10.00 a.m. B 27 15 9 11 13 10

S

SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES 
PARTNERSHIP

Thu 10.00 a.m. B 9 8 8 16

S

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

Wed. 2.00 p.m. B
8 14 7 8

S

^ Meetings video conferenced to Southport Town Hall 

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 9



SEFTON COUNCIL
CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2022/23

MAY 2022
SUN 1
MON 2 MAY BANK HOLIDAY

TUE 3

WED 4

THU 5 COUNCIL ELECTIONS

FRI 6

SAT 7
SUN 8
MON 9

TUE 10

WED 11

THU 12

FRI 13
SAT 14
SUN 15
MON 16

TUE 17 6.00 ANNUAL COUNCIL (VENUE TO 
BE DETERMINED)

WED 18                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                    

THU 19 6.30 ADJOURNED ANNUAL COUNCIL 
(B)

FRI 20

SAT 21
SUN 22
MON 23

TUE 24

WED 25 6.30 MANDATORY PLANNING 
COMMITTEE TRAINING SESSION (B) 

THU 26 10.00 CABINET (B)

FRI 27 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND
CONSULTATION PANEL (B) 

SAT 28
SUN 29
MON 30 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)
SCHOOL HALF-TERM HOLIDAY 
WEEK

TUE 31
MAY 2022

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



JUNE 2022
WED 1 6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S)

THU 2 SPRING BANK HOLIDAY

FRI 3 PLATINUM JUBILEE BANK 
HOLIDAY

SAT 4
SUN 5
MON 6

TUE 7

WED 8 2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
(B)

THU 9 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B)

FRI 10

SAT 11
SUN 12
MON 13 6.30 LICENSING AND 

REGULATORY (B)

TUE 14 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE 
AND CORPORATE SERVICES) (S)

WED 15

THU 16

FRI 17

SAT 18
SUN 19
MON 20

TUE 21 4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
MANAGEMENT BOARD (B)

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (B)

WED 22 3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (B)

THU 23 10.00 CABINET (S)

FRI 24

SAT 25
SUN 26
MON 27 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)

TUE 28 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) 
(B)

WED 29 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING 
SESSION (B)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B)

THU 30
JUNE 2022

Page 72

Agenda Item 9



JULY 2022
FRI 1

SAT 2
SUN 3
MON 4

TUE 5 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 
SAFEGUARDING) (B)

WED 6

THU 7

FRI 8

SAT 9
SUN 10
MON 11

TUE 12

WED 13

THU 14 5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING – TBC (S)
6.30 COUNCIL (S)

FRI 15 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B)

SAT 16

SUN 17

MON 18

TUE 19

WED 20 3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (B)
(SPECIAL MEETING FOR 
APPROVAL OF 2021/22 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS)

THU 21

FRI 22

SAT 23
SUN 24
MON 25 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)
TUE 26

WED 27 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 
(S)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S)

THU 28 10.00 CABINET (B)

FRI 29

SAT 30
SUN 31

JULY 2022

Page 73

Agenda Item 9



AUGUST 2022
MON 1

TUE 2

WED 3

THU 4

FRI 5

SAT 6
SUN 7
MON 8

TUE 9

WED 10

THU 11

FRI 12

SAT 13
SUN 14
MON 15

TUE 16

WED 17

THU 18

FRI 19

SAT 20
SUN 21
MON 22 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL (B)         

TUE 23

WED 24                                                                                                                                                              5.00  PLANNING TRAINING SESSION (B)
                                                                                                                                                             6.30  PLANNING COMMITTEE (B)

THU 25

FRI 26

SAT 27
SUN 28
MON 29 SUMMER BANK HOLIDAY

TUE 30
WED 31

AUGUST 2022

Page 74

Agenda Item 9



SEPTEMBER 2022
THU 1 10.00 CABINET (S)

FRI 2

SAT 3
SUN 4
MON 5 6.30 LICENSING AND REGULATORY 

(S)

TUE 6 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (S)                            

WED 7 3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (S)

THU 8 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B)

FRI 9 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B) 

SAT 10
SUN 11
MON 12

TUE 13 4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
MANAGEMENT BOARD (B)

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES) (B)

WED 14 2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD (B)

THU 15 5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING - TBC (B)
6.30 COUNCIL (B)

FRI 16
SAT 17

SUN 18
MON 19 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)
TUE 20 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (S)

WED 21 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 
(S)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S)

THU 22

FRI 23

SAT 24
SUN 25
MON 26

TUE 27 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 
SAFEGUARDING) (S)

WED 28

THU 29

FRI 30

SEPTEMBER 2022

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



OCTOBER 2022
SAT 1
SUN 2
MON 3

TUE 4

WED 5

THU 6 10.00 CABINET (B)

FRI 7

SAT 8
SUN 9
MON 10
TUE 11

WED 12

THU 13

FRI 14

SAT 15
SUN 16
MON 17 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)

TUE 18 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (B)

WED 19 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 
(B)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B)

THU 20

FRI 21

SAT 22

SUN 23

MON 24 SCHOOL HALF-TERM HOLIDAY 
WEEK

TUE 25

WED 26

THU 27

FRI 28

SAT 29
SUN 30
MON 31

OCTOBER 2022

Page 76

Agenda Item 9



NOVEMBER 2022
TUE 1 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES) (S)

WED 2

THU 3 10.00 CABINET (S)

FRI 4
SAT 5
SUN 6 REMEMBRANCE SUNDAY
MON 7
TUE 8 4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

MANAGEMENT BOARD (B)
6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (B)

WED 9

THU 10

FRI 11 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B)

SAT 12
SUN 13
MON 14 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)

TUE 15 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 
SAFEGUARDING) (B)

WED 16 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 
(S)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S)

THU 17 5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING- TBC (S)
6.30 COUNCIL (S)

FRI 18

SAT 19
SUN 20

MON 21

TUE 22

WED 23

THU 24

FRI 25

SAT 26
SUN 27
MON 28

TUE 29

WED 30

NOVEMBER 2022

Page 77

Agenda Item 9



DECEMBER 2022
THU 1 10.00 CABINET (B)

FRI 2

SAT 3
SUN 4
MON 5
TUE 6

WED 7 2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD (B)

THU 8 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B)

FRI 9

SAT 10
SUN 11
MON 12 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)

TUE 13

WED 14 3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (B) 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 
(B)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B)

THU 15

FRI 16
SAT 17
SUN 18
MON 19
TUE 20
WED 21
THU 22 SCHOOL CHRISTMAS BREAK

FRI 23 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED

SAT 24

SUN 25 CHRISTMAS DAY

MON 26 BOXING DAY

TUE 27 BANK HOLIDAY
WED 28 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED
THU 29 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED
FRI 30 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED
SAT 31

DECEMBER 2022

Page 78

Agenda Item 9



JANUARY 2023
SUN 1 NEW YEAR’S DAY
MON 2 BANK HOLIDAY
TUE 3 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (S)
WED 4

THU 5 10.00 CABINET (S)

FRI 6

SAT 7
SUN 8
MON 9 6.30 LICENSING AND 

REGULATORY (B)
TUE 10 4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

MANAGEMENT BOARD (B)
6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE 
AND CORPORATE SERVICES) (B)

WED 11

THU 12
 

FRI 13 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B) 

SAT 14
SUN 15
MON 16 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)

TUE 17 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (S)

WED 18 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING 
SESSION (S)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S)

THU 19 5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING – TBC 
(B)
6.30 COUNCIL (B)

FRI 20

SAT 21
SUN 22

MON 23

TUE 24 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 
SAFEGUARDING) (S)

WED 25

THU 26

FRI 27

SAT 28
SUN 29
MON 30

TUE 31

JANUARY 2023

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



FEBRUARY 2023
WED 1

THU 2 10.00 CABINET (B)

FRI 3

SAT 4
SUN 5
MON 6 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)

TUE 7 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES) BUDGET 
MEETING (B)

WED 8 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 
(B)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B)

THU 9 10.00 CABINET (BUDGET) (S)

FRI 10

SAT 11
SUN 12
MON 13 SCHOOL HALF-TERM HOLIDAY 

WEEK

TUE 14

WED 15

THU 16

FRI 17

SAT 18
SUN 19
MON 20
TUE 21 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (B)

WED 22

THU 23

FRI 24

SAT 25
SUN 26
MON 27

TUE 28 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES) (S)

FEBRUARY 2023

Page 80

Agenda Item 9



MARCH 2023
WED 1

THU 2 6.30 BUDGET COUNCIL (B)

FRI 3

SAT 4
SUN 5
MON 6

TUE 7 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (B)

WED 8 2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
(B)

THU 9 10.00 CABINET (B)

FRI 10 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B) 

SAT 11
SUN 12
MON 13 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)
6.30 LICENSING AND 
REGULATORY (S)

TUE 14 4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
MANAGEMENT BOARD (B)

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 
SAFEGUARDING) (B)

WED 15 3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (S) 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING 
SESSION (S)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S)

THU 16 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B) 

FRI 17

SAT 18
SUN 19
MON 20
TUE 21

WED 22

THU 23

FRI 24

SAT 25
SUN 26
MON 27

TUE 28

WED 29

THUR 30

FRI 31

MARCH 2023

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



APRIL 2023
SAT 1
SUN 2
MON 3 SCHOOL SPRING HOLIDAY

TUE 4

WED 5

THU 6 10.00 CABINET (S)

FRI 7 GOOD FRIDAY

SAT 8
SUN 9 EASTER SUNDAY
MON 10 EASTER MONDAY 
TUE 11 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 

(B)

WED 12 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 
(B)
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B)

THU 13

FRI 14

SAT 15
SUN 16
MON 17
TUE 18

WED 19

THU 20 5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING - TBC (S)
6.30 COUNCIL (S)

FRI 21

SAT 22

SUN 23
MON 24

TUE 25

WED 26
THU 27

FRI 28

SAT 29
SUN 30

APRIL 2023

Page 82

Agenda Item 9



 
MAY 2023

MON 1 MAY BANK HOLIDAY

TUE 2

WED 3

THU 4 COUNCIL AND PARISH COUNCIL 
ELECTIONS

 

FRI 5

SAT 6
SUN 7
MON 8

TUE 9

WED 10

THU 11

FRI 12

SAT 13
SUN 14
MON 15

TUE 16 6.00 ANNUAL COUNCIL 
(VENUE TO BE DETERMINED)

WED 17

THU 18 6.30 ADJOURNED ANNUAL COUNCIL 
(B)

FRI 19

SAT 20
SUN 21
MON 22

TUE 23

WED 24 6.30 MANDATORY PLANNING 
COMMITTEE TRAINING SESSION (B)

THU 25 10.00 CABINET (B)

FRI 26

SAT 27
SUN 28
MON 29 SPRING BANK HOLIDAY    

SCHOOL HALF-TERM HOLIDAY 
WEEK
   

TUE 30

WED 31

MAY 2023

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 2 December 2021

Subject: Re-tender of the Councils Managed Print Service

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report sets out the background of the Council’s current Managed Print Service, 
provided by Xerox, which is due to expire across a 15-month period device-by-device 
(spanning November 2021 to February 2023) and seeks authority to run a procurement 
exercise for the tender of a new Managed Print Service. For clarity, the Council’s 
Managed Print Service provides printing, scanning copying and faxing capabilities for 
staff in Council buildings predominantly through photocopier style multifunctional devices 
(MFD’s).

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the Executive Director or Corporate Resources & Customer Services be 
authorised to conduct a procurement exercise for the retendering of a managed print 
service to cover all corporate sites with a requirement for printing, copying and  scanning 
(noting that faxing is now provided through the Council’s cloud telephony solution).

(2) That the Executive Director of Corporate Resources & Customer Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services be granted delegated authority to award the Contract resulting from the 
procurement exercise.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

(1) To have a suitable facility for Council Officers to print, copy, scan  which aligns 
with both the Councils Contract Procedure Rules and Public Contract Regulations.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



(1) To continue with the existing fleet of Xerox devices, however this would be on an 
out of contract basis, and not in line with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.  
It must also be highlighted that the current contract was awarded by the Council’s 
previous ICT supplier, Arvato and novated to the Council mid-term, given the 
recent change in working practices and building footprint there is also an 
opportunity to rationalise the current MFD estate, thereby reducing costs

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
The revenue implications are detailed within the report, all expected costs are contained 
within existing budgets.

(B) Capital Costs
There are no anticipated capital costs.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Financial:
It is anticipated that there will be a saving made from a new managed print service due 
to a reduction in devices required in line with the Council’s agile working policy and 
through running a competitive tender.

IT:
There will be a resource requirement from the Councils managed IT provider; Agilisys 
as part of the implementation of this project and via the decommissioning process of the 
outgoing managed print service.  As the procurement will be following the Council 
‘Cloud first’ policy, any new service should reduce the IT resource required to 
manage/run this service inhouse as this activity would now be conducted by the new 
supplier in their cloud environment.

Staffing:
Currently, there is administration work required by staff in both financial management 
and the IT Client Team to recharge departments for their print usage (clicks).  This 
procurement exercise will ask suppliers how they can help try to automate this process 
to reduce the administration work for Council staff.

Assets:
There are no likely implications in relation to assets as devices are leased and not 
purchased.

Legal Implications:
Since the existing service provision winds down over a 15-month period (November 
2021 to February 2023, the commissioners will need to carefully consider and 
determine at what specific point commencing the new procurement will be most 
appropriate (i.e. if it is commenced early, then it may be that  old machines whose term 
has not yet expired remain in operation alongside new machines and cannot yet be 
displaced by new machines if there is no contractual right to accelerate their scheduled 

Page 86

Agenda Item 10



termination; if it is commenced later after several old machines will have already 
expired, then this may create a capacity issue). If the intention is simply to replace old 
machines as they expire according to their current expiry schedule with new machines 
under the new service provision on a rolling basis, then this should not create any 
legal/contractual issues with the existing service provision (because the council will be 
adhering to, and not seeking to deviate from, the terms existing expiration schedule); 
but any variant on this approach might entail seeking to either extend or terminate early 
some of contract terms for the existing machines in order to coordinate a single 
commencement date for all of the new machines. This is ultimately an operational 
determination to be made by the commissioners having regard to the number of 
machines/capacity required across the council.
.

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
Have a neutral impact N
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

A question will be asked within the quality section of the tender to score suppliers on 
their proposal attributing to the energy efficiency of their devices, recycling of used 
toners, the recycling of packaging and smart use of delivering devices over as few 
journeys as possible (and anything else the supplier wishes to provide) which may be of 
environmental benefit.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable

Page 87

Agenda Item 10



Cleaner Greener: Upgrading to more modern devices would typically allow for 
reductions in energy usage.  Having a new managed service hosted in the cloud will 
also further reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions for the Council.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6603/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4804/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Category Manager of the proposed Framework (RM6174) from Crown Commercial 
Services (CCS) to ensure the Council understands the different ‘lots’ within the 
framework and their boundaries in relation to direct award and further competition.

Implementation Date for the Decision
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: David Harris
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3721
Email Address: david.harris@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 88

Agenda Item 10



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Council’s previous outsourced ICT provider provided the Council with a 
managed print service from Xerox which included 177 leased multifunctional 
devices.  The contract was novated to the Council along with all other ICT 
contracts on 1st October 2018.

1.2 The core part of the contract spanned a five-year period (1st Oct 2016 to 30th Sept 
2021) but unusually, whilst individual devices were leased for a 5 year term, their 
individual terms only started on the day they were deployed to each site.  As a 
result, the individual devices now cease over a 15 month period as detailed below;

Number of devices Contract end date
3 30th November 2021

13 30th April 2022
17 31st May 2022
72 30th June 2022
4 31st July 2022

37 30th September 2022
21 31st October 2022
6 30th November 2022
4 28th February 2023

1.3 With the devices terms starting to end, there is now the opportunity for the Council  
to go to market for a new managed print service ensuring it is sized correctly to 
align with Council’s agile working policy and future print requirements.

Current Arrangements

1.4 There are 177 multifunctional devices (MFD’s) located across Council buildings 
authority wide which predominantly Council staff use for printing and photocopying 
but also for scanning documents and occasionally faxing.

1.5 Staff access these devices via a secure PIN to release their prints and this 
function also records print output (clicks) so that individual staff/departments are 
recharged for their usage from their own revenue budgets.

1.6 The cost of the service is split into two;

- Fixed cost - for the leasing of the equipment and its support, maintenance, and 
licencing which is £123,716 per year

- Variable cost - for usage.  There is a charge per page (known as a click) which 
costs 3.9p per page for colour and 0.044p for black and white.  The quarterly 
invoice for usage varies throughout the year depending on usage and has 
heavily reduced as a result of Covid19 and staff working from home.  Paper 
used for printing and scanning is purchased separately to this contract.

1.7 The service runs off servers and other hardware owned by the Council which is   
located within the Council’s main data centre.

Page 89

Agenda Item 10



1.8 Not included within the Council’s managed print service is bulk printing which is 
carried out under another contract provided by PSL.  

1.9 Other points to note;

- the managed print service is not sold on to schools
- some affiliated organisations use the service and are recharged for it such as 

Sefton Carers
- some of the multifunctional devices in libraries/leisure centres are public facing 

and allow the customers/service users to print or make copies of documents 
using coin add-ons 

Procurement of new managed print service

1.10 Officers within the ICT Client Team are currently working on requirements for a 
new service which includes the number of new devices and taking into account 
the Councils agile working policy, the reduction in physical office space and 
buildings and the drop in printing practices particularly as a result of the Covid19 
pandemic.

1.11 It is expected that due to the above (1.11), there will be a reduction in devices 
required which may result in a saving against the fixed element of the current 
service (the device leasing, support, maintenance and licencing costs) however 
this won’t be known or confirmed until competitive bids are received from 
suppliers.

1.12 Officers have met with staff in Crown Commercial Services and identified that the 
newly launched “Multifunctional Devices (MFDs), Print and Digital Workflow 
Software Services and Managed Print Service Provision” framework (RM6174) is  
a suitable route to market for the Council.

1.13 There are 3 particular lots on the framework to which 2 have been ruled out;

- Lot 1 which has a single supplier and offers a small catalogue of devices run 
as a basic managed print service but has been deemed unsuitable as it 
doesn’t meet the requirements of allowing the new service to be externally 
hosted/run from a cloud environment

- Lot 3 which has multiple suppliers and includes the provision of potential 
suppliers auditing the Councils current estate and requirements but has also 
been deemed unsuitable due to the extended time this process will take and 
that the Council requirements will not likely need this level of diligence carrying 
out.

1.14 It is therefore proposed to use Lot 2 and conduct a mini competition where the 
Council will specify its requirements and suppliers will tailor quotes accordingly.  
There are 9 suppliers on the lot who will be invited to submit proposals based on a 
50/40/10 price/quality/social value split.

Page 90

Agenda Item 10



1.15 In terms of a new contract duration, it is recommended that the maximum term 
under the framework be utilised allowing for an initial 5 years plus the option of 
two 1 year extensions (if required) noting that as part of the quality criteria, bidders 
will be asked within their proposal to detail how they propose for device numbers 
to flex both up and down during the term of the contract. 

Next Steps

1.16 If the recommendation of this report is accepted and approved, the next steps will 
be as follows;

1.17 Subject to approval, the intention is to commence this procurement activity in 
January 2022, with a view to a contract award taking place around the middle of 
April 2022.  This would then allow implementation of the new service to start in 
advance of 30th June when the bulk of leased Xerox devices expire (1.2).

1.18 As contingency for the Council, Xerox have confirmed that existing devices can be 
extended if necessary and during the 15 month period that the 177 devices expire, 
devices will be decommissioned where they are no longer needed.  

Activity Timescales
Publication and bidder response time up to 6 weeks
Evaluation leading to Award up to 6 weeks

Page 91

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 2 December 2021

Subject: Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Framework for 
Change 2020 - Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 
including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 
Budget - December Update

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Leader of the Council

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To inform Cabinet of: 
1. The current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget.
2. The current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget.
3. The current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates collection for 2021/22. 
4. The monitoring position of the Council’s capital programme to the end of October 

2021: 
 The forecast expenditure to year end.
 Variations against the approved budgets and an explanation of those 

variations for consideration by Members.
 Updates to spending profiles and proposed amendments to capital budgets 

necessary to ensure the efficient delivery of capital projects are also 
presented for approval.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to: 

Revenue Budget

1) Note the current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget 
together with the key issues that will influence the final position.

2) Note the current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget.
3) Recognise the financial risks associated with the delivery of the 2021/22 revenue 

budget and acknowledge that the forecast outturn position will continue to be 
reviewed to ensure a balanced forecast outturn position and financial 
sustainability can be achieved.

Page 93

Agenda Item 11



Framework for Change 2020 Update- Sandway Homes Limited

4) Further to the Cabinet report of October 2021 and the receipt of an exit strategy 
received from Sandway Homes Limited, the revisions to the Phase 1 Business 
Plan including a revised peak debt level of £8.3m be approved.

Capital Programme

5) Note the spending profiles across financial years for the approved capital 
programme (paragraph 7.1).

6) Note the latest capital expenditure position as at 31 October 2021 of £17.340m 
(paragraph 7.5); the latest full year forecast is £50.675m (paragraph 7.7).

7) Note explanations of variances to project budgets (paragraph 7.8).
8) Approve the supplementary capital estimates (paragraph 7.10).
9) Note that capital resources will be managed by the Executive Director Corporate 

Resources and Customer Services to ensure the capital programme remains fully 
funded and that capital funding arrangements secure the maximum financial 
benefit to the Council (paragraph 7.11).

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To ensure Cabinet are informed of the current position in relation to the 2021/22 revenue 
budget, including COVID19 pressures and additional funding being made available to the 
Council.   

To provide an updated forecast of the outturn position with regard to the collection of 
Council Tax and Business Rates.  

To keep members informed of the progress of the Capital Programme against the 
profiled budget for 2021/22 and agreed allocations for future years. 

To progress any changes that are required in order to maintain a relevant and accurate 
budget profile necessary for effective monitoring of the Capital Programme.

To approve any updates to funding resources so that they can be applied to capital 
schemes in the delivery of the Council’s overall capital strategy.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
The report indicates that for 2021/22 an underspend position of £0.416m is currently 
forecast but that mitigating actions may be required if the position subsequently moves to 
a deficit position.

Page 94

Agenda Item 11



(B) Capital Costs
The Council’s capital budget in 2021/22 is £50.703m. As at the end of October 2021 
expenditure of £17.340m has been incurred and a full year outturn of £50.675m is 
currently forecast.

Implications of the Proposals:
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out as follows:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
It is currently expected that an underspend position of £0.416m will be achieved for 
2021/22. However, it should be noted that significant pressure and risk remains in four 
key business areas, namely Children’s Social Care, Children with Disabilities, Education 
Excellence and Locality Services. If these budgets experience further demand pressure 
during the remainder of the year corresponding savings may need to be identified.  If 
this cannot take place there may be a call on the Council’s General Balances.

Legal Implications:
None

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

The allocations of capital funding outlined in section 7 may be spent on projects that will 
have a high climate change impact as they could relate to new build, rebuild, 
refurbishment, retrofit and demolition proposals. Environmental consideration will be 
taken into account when specific projects are designed and tendered – which will help 
to mitigate negative impacts.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
Effective Financial Management and the development and delivery of sustainable annual 
budgets support each theme of the Councils Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
See comment above

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
See comment above

Commission, broker and provide core services:

Page 95

Agenda Item 11



See comment above

Place – leadership and influencer:
See comment above

Drivers of change and reform:
See comment above

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
See comment above

Greater income for social investment: 
See comment above

Cleaner Greener:
See comment above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources & Customer Services is the author of the 
report (FD 6619/21)

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has been consulted and has no comments on 
the report (LD 4820/21).

(B) External Consultations 
N/A
 
Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Paul Reilly
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4106
Email Address: paul.reilly@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendix is attached to this report: 

APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 96

Agenda Item 11



1. Introduction
 
1.1 In March 2021, Council approved the budget for 2021/22. This report provides an 

update on the forecast revenue outturn position for 2021/22, including the 
significant impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s 2021/22 budget, and reflects the 
position at the end of the first quarter of the financial year.

1.2 The report also outlines the current position regarding key income streams for the 
Authority, namely Council Tax and Business Rates. Variations against expected 
receipts in these two areas will also affect the Council’s financial position in future 
years. 

1.3 The capital section of the report informs Members of the latest estimate of capital 
expenditure for 2021/22 and forecast expenditure for 2022/23 and 2023/24. The 
capital budget to date is presented in paragraph 7.1. Paragraphs 7.5 to 7.8 review 
progress of the capital programme. Finally, paragraph 7.11 confirms that there are 
adequate levels of resources available to finance the capital programme.

2. Impact of COVID 19 on 2021/22 Budget
2.1 As part of the Council Budget Report presented to the Budget Council meeting in 

March, Members received details of the full range of financial issues that were 
being faced by the Council in 2021/22 arising from the pandemic, and how this cost 
would be funded.  A summary is shown below:

2021/22
£’m

Sales, Fees and Charges Income
Estimated Net Losses 1,500
Use of 2021/22 Emergency Funding -1.500

0.000

Collection Fund deficit in 2020/21 arising from COVID-19
Net losses after government compensation scheme 5.812
Collection Fund Surplus from 2019/20 -1.072

4.740

Collection Fund deficit re. 2021/22
Reduction in Council Tax Base 3.564
Council Tax Support Grant -3.471
Business Rates forecast losses 3.000

3.093

Temporary Mitigating Measures to Offset Council Tax / 
Business Rates Losses
Use of 2020/21 Emergency Funding -4.000
Framework for Change 2020 – Council of 2023 Savings -0.890
Forecast Underspend in 2020/21 -1.000
Vacancy Management -0.500
School Closure Reserve -0.500
Use of 2021/22 Emergency Funding -0.943

Page 97

Agenda Item 11



-7.833

Net Impact on 2021/22 Budget 0.000

2.2 An update on the pressures is provided below:

Sales, Fees and Charges Income
2.3 There was a significant impact on income from sales, fees and charges for a range 

of services during 2020/21. Whilst some income streams have fully recovered since 
lockdown finished, others are expected to remain impacted whilst measures are still 
in place for social distancing, etc.  

2.4 The government has announced that the compensation scheme in place in 2020/21 
to provide support for a proportion of losses will be extended until the end of June 
2021.  Therefore, an element of losses will be funded through the compensation 
scheme. The Council is currently finalising the claim for April to June but expects to 
claim £0.950m to partially compensate for losses in the period of £1.450m.

2.5 It is currently forecast that the loss of income in the year may be in the region of 
£2.900m.  After the claim for compensation in the first quarter of the year, the net 
loss is forecast to be £2.145m during 2021/22. This is an increase on the £1.5m 
assumed in the Budget Report.  This forecast will be reviewed during the year as 
there is more experience of the impact on reopened facilities.  Any balance of 
losses not funded by the scheme will need to be covered from the emergency 
funding or the Contain Outbreak Management Fund received by the Council in 
2021/22.  It is currently assumed that income levels may return to normal from 
2022/23, however, this will continue to be assessed based on the experience once 
all restrictions are eased.  Any ongoing implications will need to be built into the 
three-year budget plan and potentially funded on a temporary basis if the impact 
isn’t considered permanent.

Collection Fund deficit in 2020/21 arising from COVID-19
2.6 The Council, in line with all other local authorities, is experiencing significant 

reductions in income from both Council Tax and Business Rates.  This relates to 
increases in households eligible to claim under the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
and some increases in Business Rates appeals as well as reductions in collection 
rates. 

2.7 The government announced financial support would be provided to offset 75% of 
irrecoverable losses.  However, Council Tax losses relating to non-collection aren’t 
eligible for compensation under the scheme, neither are adjustments relating to 
previous years.  The Budget Report estimated that net losses not covered by the 
scheme would therefore be up to £5.812m and would need to be funded.  The final 
deficit position for both Council Tax and Business Rates, along with the amount of 
financial support that has been claimed from the government, have now been 
finalised and has resulted in a net loss of £8.567m.  However, it is anticipated that 
some of these losses will be reversed in 2021/22 so the net impact will be within the 
£5.812m previously estimated.

Page 98

Agenda Item 11



Council Tax Base
2.8 The Council Tax Base is set by Council in January each year.  It reflects changes in 

the number of properties and the value of exemptions and discounts.  In recent 
years the Council Tax Base has increased steadily due to housing growth.  
However, due to the impact of COVID-19 on the number of CTRS claimants, the 
reduced collection rate and the slowdown in housing growth, there has been a 
significant reduction in the Base for 2021/22.  This reduced the Council Tax 
Requirement by £3.564m.  

2.9 The government has announced additional funding to support the loss of income 
due to increased numbers of CTRS claimants.  Sefton’s allocation is £3.471m and 
will be used to offset the majority of reduced funding due to the decrease in the 
Council Tax Base.

2.10 Currently, the number of CTRS claimants hasn’t increased as forecast (this is 
mainly due to the government’s “furlough” scheme being extended which may have 
delayed any increase) and collection rates are slightly ahead of expectations.  If 
these factors continue then a surplus may be generated, although due to 
regulations this would only be credited to the Council in 2022/23.  Section 4 
highlights that currently a surplus of £1.575m is forecast (excluding the surplus from 
2020/2021).

Business Rates
2.11 Business Rates collection rates reduced in 2020/21 due to COVID-19 and are 

expected to remain lower than normal in 2021/22.  In addition, at the time of the 
Budget Report there were significant numbers of appeals in 2020/21 due to 
restrictions being in place. It was estimated that based on the 2020/21 position that 
£3.000m of the Council’s income will be at risk as businesses no longer exist or 
cannot afford to pay business rates.  

2.12 However, central government have announced that appeals relating to the 
implications of COVID19 won’t be allowed under amended regulations.  Therefore, 
it is forecast that the income now at risk is only £1.600m.

Summary
2.13 It should be noted that the figures included above will be subject to change and will 

continue to be reviewed on a monthly basis.  

3. Revenue Budget 2021/22 – Forecast Outturn Position as at the end of October 
2021
 

3.1 Members are provided with updates of the Council’s forecast financial revenue 
position each month during the financial year from July. 

3.2 In 2020/21, as in previous years, significant pressures were identified in several 
service areas at an early stage of the year, particularly Children’s Social Care, 
Communities (Children with Disabilities) Education Excellence (Home to School 
Transport) and Operational In-House Services. These pressures, and the 
unprecedented financial challenges faced by the Council in relation to COVID-19, 
meant the Council had to implement a remedial action plan was adopted to ensure 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



a balanced budget position would be achieved.  In addition, a number of financial 
principles that had been implemented in previous years were also adopted.

3.3 In response to these pressures, Budget Council approved that additional resources 
be added to the 2021/22 budget for these services, with the amounts shown below:

Service Budget 
Pressure

£m

Children's Social Care – Placements & Packages 7.280
Communities – Children with Disabilities / PSR2 1.050
Education Excellence – Home to School Transport 1.100
Operational In-House Services – Security Force 0.350

9.780

3.4 However, as these are demand led services this will need to be carefully monitored 
during the year, with the biggest risk being the cost of Children’s Social Care – 
Placements and Packages.  Any pressures arising will need to be managed as it is 
still vital that the Council is able to achieve a balanced forecast outturn position for 
its normal activities, ignoring the impact of COVID-19 pressures.  Therefore, the 
approval of mitigating actions, and the adoption of financial principles used in 
previous years, may need to be implemented at some point during the remainder of 
the year. 

3.5 As at the end of October, the forecast outturn shows a net underspend of £0.416m. 
The table below highlights the variations:

Budget Forecast 
Outturn

Variance Variance 
to 

September 
Position

£m £m £m £m
Services
Strategic Management 4.002 4.030 0.028 0.006

Adult Social Care 97.951 97.166 -0.785 -0.213
Children's Social Care 47.482 48.575 1.093 0.302
Communities 17.420 16.990 -0.430 0.143
Corporate Resources 4.423 4.380 -0.043 0.011
Economic Growth & Housing 6.463 6.349 -0.114 -0.138
Education Excellence 10.548 10.413 -0.135 -0.109
Health & Wellbeing 18.715 18.590 -0.125 0.004
Highways & Public Protection 11.152 11.157 0.005 0.012
Locality Services 13.741 13.711 -0.030 0.143

Total Service Net 
Expenditure

231.897 231.361 -0.536 0.161

Budget Pressure Fund 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000
Page 100

Agenda Item 11



3.6 The key areas relating to the outturn position are as follows:

 Adult Social Care – The current forecast assumes that the Adult Social Care 
budget will achieve a small surplus during 2021/22.  However, there are a number 
of significant assumptions and uncertainties as a result of COVID-19 that could 
impact on this position before the year-end.  

As part of the Demand Management Programme, savings of £3.300m were 
identified and delivered during 2020/21.  Work on the Programme is continuing, 
and further savings are being identified that will have a part-year impact in 2021/22 
and will therefore impact on the forecast outturn position.  The current forecast of 
these savings in 2021/22 is £1.416m.  Due to the significant assumptions and 
uncertainties within the forecast outturn position, only those savings achieved to 
date have been included in the forecast outturn position at this time. 

 Children’s Social Care – The current forecast shows a potential overspend of 
£2.907m.  However,  it is estimated that £1.814m of the overspend is attributable to 
the impact of COVID-19.  Therefore, as reported to Cabinet in July, these 
temporary costs will be met by the Contain Outbreak Management Fund.  The net 
overspend is therefore £1.093m.  This is as a result of some recent high cost cases 
and highlights the pressures that the budget can experience.  

However, as has been regularly reported over the last three years, the cost of 
Placements and Packages is the largest risk to the Council’s budget position.  The 
Council is currently working on developing a range of options to address the 
inherent demand and costs of Looked After Children whilst supporting the most 
vulnerable residents, but this budget remains under pressure and purely from a 
financial point of view this is likely to continue during this year and into the next 
financial year. 

At the Cabinet meeting in September a report highlighted the need for additional 
temporary and permanent staffing resources within the service.  The report 
forecasted that additional costs of potentially £2.008m could be incurred in 
2021/22, with £1.500m of these costs being funded from the reserve approved at 
July’s Cabinet meeting. As these posts are fully funded from one-off resources, 
they aren’t included in the forecast outturn position.

Council Wide Budgets -13.842 -13.722 0.120 0.000
Levies 34.568 34.568 0.000 0.000
General Government Grants (62.858) (62.858) 0.000 0.000

Total Net Expenditure 190.765 190.349

Forecast Year-End Deficit -0.416 0.161

Page 101

Agenda Item 11



4. Council Tax Income – Update 
 
4.1 Council Tax income is shared between the billing authority (Sefton Council) and the 

three major precepting authorities (the Fire and Rescue Authority, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and the Combined Authority – Mayoral Precept) pro-rata to 
their demand on the Collection Fund. The Council’s Budget included a Council Tax 
Requirement of £143.037m for 2021/22 (including Parish Precepts), which 
represents 84.1% of the net Council Tax income of £170.167m. 

4.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of October 2021 is a surplus of -
£2.301m.  However, it should be noted that the Council Tax Base for 2021/22 was 
reduced to reflect lower collection rates and increased Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme claimants.  Therefore, this surplus is forecast in the context of a reduction 
in Council Tax income of £3.564m (see paragraph 2.7).  This variation is primarily 
due to: -

 The deficit on the fund at the end of 2020/21 being lower than estimated (-
£0.421m).

 
 Gross Council Tax Charges in 2021/22 being higher than estimated (-£1.031m). 

 Exemptions and Discounts (including a forecasting adjustment) being lower than 
estimated (-£0.849m).  

4.3 Due to Collection Fund regulations, the Council Tax surplus will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2021/22 but will be carried forward to be recovered in future 
years.

4.4 A forecast deficit of £5.179m was declared on the 21 January 2021 of which 
Sefton’s share is £4.355m (84.1%).  This is the amount that will be recovered from 
the Collection Fund in 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24.  Any additional surplus or 
deficit will be distributed in 2022/23 and future years.

5. Business Rates Income – Update 
 
5.1 Since 1 April 2017, Business Rates income has been shared between the Council 

(99%) and the Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). The Council’s Budget included 
retained Business Rates income of £67.919m for 2021/22, which represents 99% of 
the net Business Rates income of £68.606m. Business Rates income has 
historically been very volatile making it difficult to forecast accurately. 

5.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of October 2021 is a deficit of                        
£22.079m on Business Rates income. This is due to:

 The deficit on the fund at the end of 2021/22 being higher than estimated 
(+£3.467m).

 Decrease in the gross charge on rateable properties (+£0.879m).
 A number of additional reliefs were announced after January 2021 to support 

businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic. These include expanded retail 
discount, pub relief, newspaper relief, and private nursery relief. The loss of 

Page 102

Agenda Item 11



income as a result of these reliefs will be covered by Section 31 grant payments. 
Due to the timing of these announcements the impact of these reliefs could not 
be incorporated into the budget figures reported in the NNDR1 return 
(+£17.733m).

5.3 When taking into account the additional Section 31 grants due on the additional 
reliefs, a net deficit of £4.329m is forecast.  

5.4 Due to Collection Fund regulations, a Business Rates deficit will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2021/22 but will be carried forward to be recovered in future 
years.  

5.5 A forecast deficit of £39.206m was declared in January 2021.  Sefton’s share of this 
is £38.814m.  This is the amount that will be distributed from the Collection Fund in 
2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. Any additional surplus or deficit will be distributed in 
2022/23 and future years.

6. Framework for Change 2020 Update- Sandway Homes Limited

6.1 Members will recall that at the October 2021 Cabinet meeting an updated business 
and delivery plan for Phase 1 was presented for approval.  The report contained the 
following recommendation that was approved:-

Approve these revisions to the Phase 1 Business Plan subject to the receipt of an 
exit strategy that details the financial risk to the council that would arise should the 
revised peak debt of £8.3m be reached and the company failed to continue to 
operate- Details of this will be presented to Cabinet in a follow up report upon 
receipt.

6.2 Officers of the Council have now received details of that Exit Strategy the details of 
which are as follows.

Exit Strategy considerations
6.3 As would be expected, the most appropriate exit strategy for the Company, which 

the Council would determine and lead, would be dependent upon a number of 
factors which include the Company’s Financial position at a given point in time.  As 
reported to Members in October 2021, the overall ‘value’ of the Phase 1 Sandway 
Plan is £30.3m, and this is a five-year plan scheduled to complete in 2024.  

6.4 Throughout the Business Plan period the appropriate exit strategy would depend 
upon the stage of construction, and if for example the Contractor was to go into 
liquidation which would influence the value of the works left to complete on site at 
that moment in time.  It will also depend on the number of un-sold homes, and how 
long they have been un-sold compared to the phasing assumed within the Business 
Plan.  The value of peak debt of £8.3m in the revised Business Plan is due to be 
reached by March 2022 with full repayment by March 2024 as reported to Cabinet- 
to understand the exposure that the Council would face a focus will be placed on 
the financial position during each quarter of 2022 as this is the year when the 
higher levels of peak debt will be reached.

Page 103

Agenda Item 11



The role of an exit strategy
6.5 It is essential that a wholly owned council company has an exit strategy so that 

there is a clear ‘route’ to exit should there be unexpected shocks which means that 
the business plan and company become unviable and/or the Council wishes to 
withdraw its investment.   Reference to an agreed exit strategy will be incorporated 
within the proposed Shareholder Agreement amendments which will be brought to 
Cabinet in January 2022 and this will place a clear obligation on the Company for 
this to be reviewed annually as part of the Business Plan review process.

Considerations to me made in exit planning
6.6 From discussions with the Company it is considered that there would be three 

proposed exit routes which would allow the Council to ‘step in’ if the peak debt was 
realised and the Company failed to operate.  However, before that stage, there are 
further mitigating factors that the Company / Council could deploy to improve the 
overall position and mitigate risk.  A summary of these exit strategy routes, and 
associated risk monitoring is provided as follows:

a) Un-sold stock: sales monitoring and dashboards
The revised business plan as presented to Cabinet in October 2021, contained 
sales contingency provision.  This relates to an element of financial headroom in 
the plan to allow the Company to incentivise sales if plots remain un-sold for a 
period of 3 months beyond the plot completion date. Typical incentives include 
upgrades to kitchens, integrated appliances, inclusion of carpets and floor finishes, 
assistance with legal fees- this strategy would improve sales and income should 
there be a slowdown in completion, and this improve the Company position and 
Council’s exposure.

b) Un-sold stock: individual plot sales to a Registered Provider or Investor
If there are properties that remain un-sold for a period of beyond 6 months, the 
Council could seek a disposal strategy from the Company, involving the sale of 
stock to either a Registered Provider or an Investor.  There are  a number of  
Registered Providers actively operating / developing homes in Sefton who would be 
interested in acquiring stock for affordable housing purposes.  Sandway could also 
register as a Registered Provider entity and retain properties for shared ownership / 
rent to buy however that would require a re-negotiation of current loan terms and a 
likely extension for 5-10 years to cover the initial first tranche sales period.

There are equally larger Build to Rent investors with Organisations such as Legal & 
General and Lloyds Banking Group who have recently entered the market, seeking 
to acquire residential stock.  Similarly, smaller pension fund investors exist, who 
could potentially step in to acquire stock.  Development assumptions will differ 
between an RP investor / private investor, and it may be that the Council would lose 
a percentage of its overall income by disposing of properties in this manner.  

These options would equally apply should the company reach a position where it is 
no longer operating.

c) Retention of stock for market rent / affordable housing purposes
If the Company is no longer operating, the Council may equally opt to re-finance 
and retain any un-sold Sandway stock for use as affordable or market rented 
housing.  As previously reported to Members, the Council is currently considering 
its options around the provision and delivery of affordable homes and council 

Page 104

Agenda Item 11



housing and an assessment of acquiring completed stock from the Company could 
be considered as part of that process.  
  
It should be noted that should this option be preferred, retaining a rented portfolio 
would require the Council to re-finance the existing £8.3m peak debt loan, to cover 
the full development costs of the remaining stock, due to the properties becoming 
rented units, as opposed to open market.   This option as is the case with the 2 
previous options would require a full financing and financial appraisal to inform 
member decision making.

Future financial exposure
6.7 As previously reported, the Council intends to forecast and report what its overall 

financial exposure will be at a given point in time and this will be dependent upon 
overall contractual commitments, sales exposure, and the level of headroom within 
the peak debt provision.  This information will be reviewed on at least an annual 
basis as part of the Sandway Business Plan update provided to Cabinet.  

6.8 The start- up costs associated with the Company, including legal fees, professional 
fees (for design and planning for Phase 1), and staffing costs are £1.33m.  Whilst 
arguably some of these costs could be re-claimed from the sale of the homes- it 
has to be assumed that there could be additional costs associated with the 
dissolution of the Company if required, and equally the cost of sale if the Council 
chose to dispose of any un-sold stock.  

6.9 As stated the peak debt is estimated to be reached in March 2022 and with the 
business plan being regularly updated and material variations provided to Cabinet 
as required and the exit strategy being updated on an annual basis, it is considered 
that the financial exposure facing the Council during 2022, should be the immediate 
focus for understanding and to inform approval of the revised business plan and 
peak debt.

 
6.10 As such the following table provides a financial projection for the next 12 months of 

how the committed programme and unsold homes are anticipated to be each 
quarter and the residual balance that the Council would need to fund.

6.11 At the start of Q4 2021-22 the opening debt is £5.7m.  There is a contractual 
commitment remaining to Barnfield Construction of £14m, with on costs for the 
quarter including professional fees, marketing fees, staffing and overheads of 
£0.6m and a total stock value of £28.3m which is net of grant funding.  

6.12 As a result of this the financial exposure for SMBC would be £14.2m, which is the 
balance to complete the construction works alongside sales income being received.  
It should be noted that this is the position the Council is in at this point in time.

6.13 From Q1 2022-23, the Company will start to receive sales income, and at the same 
time construction payments will start to reduce month on month, hence the overall 
‘residual balance’, with financial exposure and risk also reducing on a quarter by 
quarter basis.  As a result, from Q1 2022-23 the residual balance and risk reduces 
to £12.3m, through to £3.6m by the end of Q4 2022-23.

Page 105

Agenda Item 11



Conclusion
6.14 From this statement it can be seen that the Company has provided to the Council 

an exit strategy that will be reviewed on an annual basis.  This initial draft details 
the options that could be available to the council should the company no longer 
operate and importantly some of the options that could mitigate the Council’s 
financial exposure before that point is reached.

6.15 The peak debt of £8.3m will be reached in March 2022 and it is clear from the 
analysis provided that the financial risk to the Council from Phase 1 is focussed on 
2022 when the contractual commitments to the main building contractor are at the 
highest.  This risk is forecast to reduce during the year as sales income is 
generated following build and sales completion, but the residual financial obligation 
that would fall on the Council is clearly set out.  As a result, monitoring will be 
undertaken on a monthly basis and will be reported to the Shareholder 
Representative, and where any changes are material, to Cabinet for decision.

6.16 As such it is considered that there is clear visibility on the financial exposure that 
the council will be subject to as the level of peak debt is reached and also how this 
should reduce during 2022 based on current projections from the company.  As is 
expected it is clear that this scenario is totally dependent on completion of build and 
sales in accordance with the revised Business Plan that was presented to Members 
in October 2021.  In the event that there are any material changes to this over the 
next 6 months in particular, further reports will need to be provided to Cabinet as 
the Shareholder for consideration.

6.17 Should the Council find itself in a position where the exit plan needs to be 
considered, a detailed financial appraisal of all options will need to be undertaken 
with expert external advice and support, in order to determine the most favourable 
solution for the Council- the table in this extract provides Members with a current 
estimate of financial exposure, however it is important to note that any exit strategy 
will need to take into account, re-financing costs as set out in the report, grant 
funding that maybe available to registered providers or investors to support 
acquisition, current market conditions and scale of unsold stock. Such an exercise 
would be complex and would need to include details of how any residual balance or 
deficit would be met by the Council which would inform member decision making.

Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23 Q3 22/23 Q4 22/23

Opening Loan position -£5,693,000

Construction Commitments -£14,048,778 -£10,593,568 -£8,613,154 -£7,610,760 -£6,482,245
Average other commitments -£614,667 -£614,667 -£614,667 -£614,667 -£614,667

Un-sold stock £28,318,632 £22,952,809 £17,352,906 £13,853,619 £10,151,995

Residual Balance for SMBC to fund 14,269,854   12,359,242    8,739,751   6,242,859    3,669,750      

Page 106

Agenda Item 11



7. Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2023/24

Capital Budget
7.1 The Capital Budget and profile of expenditure for the three years 2021/22 to 

2023/24 is as follows:

7.2 The following updates have been made to the capital programme budget since the 
previous report to Cabinet in November:

 Adult Social Care – the rate of delivery for Disabled Facilities Grants is now 
improving. An additional £0.165m has therefore been phased from 2022/23 to 
2021/22 for the increase in forecast spend in the current year.

 Economic Growth & Housing – £0.300m has been phased from 2021/22 to 
2022/23 for the delivery of the Strand Business Plan.

 Highways and Public Protection – £1.556m for the LED Street Lighting Project 
has been phased from future years to 2021/22 and the full list of Highways 
schemes for 2021/22 has also been approved (see 2.3. and 2.4. below). 

 Operational In-House Services:
- £0.237m has been phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for the Regional Coastal 

Monitoring Programme.
- £0.240m has been phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for Ainsdale Coastal 

Gateway. The bulk of car park work will now be delivered later than expected 
into early 2022/23 due to time needed for planning permission and 
restrictions on construction on site due to the protected habitat in and around 
the site. The refurbishment of the public toilets is expected to take place 
through the winter with an aim to be open for Easter 2022.

- £0.816m has been phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for the Vehicle 
Replacement Programme due to protracted delivery times quoted by 
suppliers.

7.3 Authority has been delegated within the Financial Procedure Rules to Cabinet 
Member in conjunction with Head of Service to assign funding to individual 
schemes within the Capital Programme from the block allocations approved by 
Council. The list of schemes for 2021/22 Highways Programme has now been fully 
developed and approved by Cabinet Member. A full list of the approved Highways 
schemes can be found at Annex A.

7.4 The total forecast for the LED Street Lighting budget has increased to £2.048m due 
to revised delivery targets and the opportunity of increased workload in the summer 
months with late light nights and weekend working being implemented by the 
contractor to mitigate as much as possible the identified risk of significant future 
energy price rises. There are likely to be further fluctuations to these budget 
estimates however, from issues that may affect delivery such as Covid illness and 
potential component delivery issues in the manufacturing industry. The 

2021/22 £50.703m
2022/23 £22.173m
2023/24 £8.481m

Page 107

Agenda Item 11



performance of the contractor will be monitored closely in the coming months and 
any revised estimates will be reported on future budget updates to Cabinet.

Budget Monitoring Position to October 2021
7.5 The current position of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of October 

2021 is shown in the table below. It should be noted that budgets are profiled 
dependent upon the timing of when works are to be carried out and the anticipated 
spend over the financial year. For example, Education Excellence will typically carry 
out most of its capital works during key school’s holiday periods such as the 
summer recess, whilst Highways and Public Protection will complete most of its 
programmed works during quarters two and four of the financial year. The budget to 
date in the table below reflects the profiles of each individual scheme.

Service Area
Budget to 

Oct-21

Actual 
Expenditure 

to Oct-21
Variance to 

Oct-21
£m £m £m

Adult Social Care 2.039 2.119 0.080
Children’s Social Care 0.025 0.025 -
Communities 0.510 0.508 -0.002
Corporate Resources 0.212 0.197 -0.014
Economic Growth & Housing 2.539 2.296 -0.243
Education Excellence 2.824 2.847 0.023
Highways & Public Protection 3.385 3.364 -0.022
Operational In-House Services 5.922 5.984 0.062

Total Programme 17.456 17.340 -0.116

7.6 A significant underspend of £0.243m has occurred in the Economic Growth & 
Housing budget compared to the profile to the end of October. This is largely due to 
a project delay from a building control issue relating to fire compartmentalisation on 
the Crosby Lakeside Redevelopment. Steel framework is also behind schedule. 
The bulk of work is now forecast to be completed from January to March 2022.

Capital Programme Forecast Outturn 2021/22
7.7 The current forecast of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of 2021/22 

and the profile of budgets for future years is shown in the table below:

Service Area

Full Year 
Budget 
2021/22

Forecast 
Out-turn

Variance 
to 

Budget

Full Year 
Budget 
2022/23

Full Year 
Budget 
2023/24

£m £m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care 4.976 4.941 -0.035 4.429 1.624

Children’s Social Care 0.100 0.100 - - -

Communities 2.482 2.482 - 0.572 0.090

Corporate Resources 5.383 5.383 - 0.404 -

Economic Growth & Housing 10.946 10.946 - 1.488 0.135

Page 108

Agenda Item 11



Education Excellence 4.795 4.801 0.006 4.994 1.855

Highways & Public Protection 13.788 13.788 - 3.742 3.606

Operational In-House Services 8.233 8.233 - 6.543 1.171

Total Programme 50.703 50.675 -0.029 22.173 8.481
A full list of the capital programme by capital scheme is at appendix A.

7.8 The current 2021/22 budgeted spend is £50.607m with a budgeted spend to 
September of £13.390m. The full year budget includes exceptional items such as 
£6.4m for vehicle replacement, £1.9m for Green Homes Local Delivery, £1.050m 
Brownfield Fund for Housing Development, £1.875m for Southport Town Deal 
projects, £2.5m for the Marine Lake Events Centre, previously approved amounts 
for essential repairs and maintenance (£3.550m), a scheme to upgrade to LED 
Street Lighting (£0.815m), and leisure schemes for a new sports hub and 
improvements to an existing football pitch (£1.378m).

7.9 Typically, on an annual basis the capital programme spends in the region of £25m. 
Given this typical annual level of spend it is likely that reprofiling of spend into 
2022/23 will occur as the year progresses.

Supplementary Capital Estimates

7.10 The following supplementary estimates are presented for approval:

a) Bootle Town Centre Commission – an additional allocation of £140,000 
funded by £100,000 grant from the Combined Authority and £40,000 from the 
Contain Outbreak Management Fund to complete works at Bootle canal side.

b) Orrell Mount Football Pitch – an additional allocation of £90,396 is needed to 
complete the project due to increased materials and electrical supply costs. 
This will be funded from Section 106 monies from the St Wilfrid’s site in the 
adjacent Litherland ward.

Programme Funding
7.11 The table below shows how the capital programme will be funding in 2021/22:

Source £m
Grants 35.119
Contributions (incl. Section 106) 1.168
Capital Receipts 5.031
Prudential Borrowing 9.385
Total Programme Funding 50.703

7.12 The programme is reviewed on an ongoing basis to confirm the capital resources 
required to finance capital expenditure are in place, the future years programme is 
fully funded, and the level of prudential borrowing remains affordable.

Page 109

Agenda Item 11



7.13 The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services will continue 
to manage the financing of the programme to ensure the final capital funding 
arrangements secure the maximum financial benefit to the Council.

Page 110

Agenda Item 11



APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24

Budget
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24Capital Project

£ £ £
Adult Social Care    

Care Homes - Fire Alarms & Emergency Lighting 98,310  -  - 
Core DFG Programme 1,140,000 333,566  - 
Wider Social Care Programme 3,738,089 4,095,902 1,623,750

Children’s Social Care    

Support for Fostering Placements 100,000 - -

Communities    

Dunes Splashworld – Essential Repairs 1,014,700 292,704 81,470
Litherland Sports Park – 3G Pitch & Lighting 250,000 - -

Orrell Mount Sports Hub 1,128,047 - -

Libraries - Centres of Excellence 20,000 279,301  - 
S106 - Netherton & Orrell – Abbeyfield Park 11,942  -  - 
S106 - Linacre - Strand Living Wall 10,665  -  - 
S106 - Sudell – Moorhey Shops Parking Scheme 16,625 - -
S106 - Ford – Stanton Avenue One Way System - - 9,000
S106 - Litherland – Play Equip Orrell Mount Pavilion 30,000 - -

Corporate Resources    

Council Wide Essential Maintenance 2,308,330 - -
STCC Essential Maintenance     87,680 -  - 
Victoria Baths Essential Works 138,974  -  - 
Bootle & Southport Town Hall Retrofit Energy Saving 788,087  -  - 
Green Homes Grant Local Delivery Scheme 1,900,000 - -
Public Sector Reform 160,000 404,337  - 

Economic Growth & Housing    

Strategic Acquisitions - Bootle 434,473 - -
The Strand Business Plan – Mtce. and Improvement 120,000 540,000 135,000
Cambridge Road Centre Development 795,123 - -
Crosby Lakeside Development 2,791,997 - -

Town Centre Commission Bootle 150,000 - -

Southport Market Redevelopment 813,938 20,039  - 
Marine Lake Events Centre 4,095,000 - -
Enterprise Arcade 250,000 - -
Strategic Acquisitions - Ainsdale 299,500 891,859  - 
Housing Investment 15,188 36,180  - 
Brownfield Fund for Housing Development 1,050,000  -  - 
Southport Pier Project 130,886  -  - 

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

Education Excellence    

Healthy Pupils Fund 1,486  -  - 
Schools Programme 3,476,104 3,145,893 1,854,957
Planned Maintenance 430,982 834,043 -
Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 886,313 1,013,579 -

Highways and Public Protection    

Accessibility 1,088,000 - -
Completing Schemes/Retentions 40,000 - -
Healthy Lifestyles 1,100,000 - -
Road Safety 120,000 - -
A565 Route Management and Parking 1,825,000 - -
A59 Route Management Strategy 190,000 - -
Strategic Planning 983,292 - -
Traffic Management and Parking 60,000 - -
Active Travel 1,093,314 - -
Highway Maintenance 3,909,928 - -
Bridges & Structures 300,000 - -
Drainage 150,000 - -
Street Lighting 2,671,000 3,742,035 3,605,580
UTC Maintenance 60,000 - -
Major Transport Schemes 197,000 - -

Operational In-House Services    

Burials & Cremation Insourcing - Vehicles & Equip 90,663  -  - 
Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Prog. - 43,851 -
Merseyside Groundwater Study 31,508  -  - 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme 2016-2021 391,654 -        - 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme 2022-2026 597,000 972,000 1,058,000
The Pool & Nile Watercourses 124,121  -  - 
Crosby Flood & Coastal Scheme 57,219 763,261      - 
Hall Road & Alt Training Bank - Rock Armour - 45,775  - 
Ainsdale & Birkdale Land Drainage Scheme 25,973  -  - 
Surface Water Management Plan 18,000 81,445  - 
Surface Water Modelling & Mapping 13,601  -  - 
Small Watercourse Works 7,638 - -
Water Level Monitoring Pilot 13,000 5,000 -
Parks Schemes 143,409 171,385  - 
Tree Planting Programme 68,747 126,783      - 
Golf Driving Range Developments 398,822 280,280  - 
Ainsdale Coastal Gateway 111,050 240,488 -
Crosby Marine Lake Improvements – Phase 1 155,000 - -
Litter Bin Infrastructure 22,358 - -

Page 112

Agenda Item 11



2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

Green Sefton – Plant & Machinery - 131,152 -
Vehicle Replacement Programme 5,543,468 1,736,762 113,000
Wheeled Bins 420,000 1,945,000 -

TOTAL PROGRAMME 50,703,204 22,172,620 8,480,757

Page 113

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Commissioning Domiciliary Care (Domiciliary Care Tenders)
	5 Domiciliary Care Contract Novations
	6 Substance Misuse Residential Rehabilitation Programme (Dynamic Purchasing System)
	7 High Needs Funding Allocations
	8 Selective and Additional (HMO) Licensing Schemes - Introduction of the Business Case
	9 Programme of Meetings – 2022/23 Municipal Year
	Enc. 1 for Programme of Meetings – 2022/23 Municipal Year
	Enc. 2 for Programme of Meetings – 2022/23 Municipal Year

	10 Re-tender of the Councils Managed Print Service
	11 Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Framework for Change 2020 - Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget - December Update

